

# LUND UNIVERSITY

### The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment

Nyström, Anna

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Nyström, A. (2025). The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment

ANNA NYSTRÖM DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES LUND | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment

# The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment

Anna Nyström



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University to be publicly defended on 28 March 2025 at 10:00 in Belfragesalen, BMC, Lund, Sweden

*Faculty opponent* Kirsi Jahnukainen, Professor, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: Doctoral thesis

Author: Anna Nyström

Date of issue: 28 March 2025 Sponsoring organization: None

Title: The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment

#### Abstract:

**Background:** Considering the increased number of childhood cancer survivors (CCSs), it is of great importance to identify females at risk of ovarian dysfunction early on to limit further complications. Highly gonadotoxic treatments such as alkylating agents, radiotherapy to the ovaries, and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) may induce accelerated follicular loss, consequently leading to premature ovarian insufficiency (POI). Women with POI are at risk of impaired quality of life, infertility, metabolic syndrome, cardiovascular disease, and osteoporosis.

**Aims:** To estimate the prevalence of POI and compare ovarian serum markers with antral follicle count (AFC) and ovarian volume (OV). To evaluate quality of life among CCSs with and without POI. To assess ovarian function and fertility using the Swedish and PanCareLIFE infertility risk classifications. To investigate the association between age at diagnosis, ovarian markers, and POI.

**Methods:** In this cross-sectional study, 167 adult CCSs were compared with 164 age-matched controls. Anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH), inhibin B, follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), and oestradiol were collected. Transvaginal ultrasound was used to assess AFC and OV. Comprehensive data were gathered regarding cancer diagnoses and treatments, quality of life, and fertility.

**Results:** 13% of CCSs had POI. AMH, inhibin B, and FSH correlated significantly with AFC and OV in both CCSs and controls. AMH was the most accurate serum marker for detecting POI and low AFC. Health state and well-being were significantly decreased in CCSs compared with controls. Moreover, CCSs with POI reported the lowest well-being. CCSs exposed to highly gonadotoxic treatments based on the infertility risk classifications had significantly reduced AMH and AFC, higher POI prevalence, as well as a trend towards impaired fertility compared with controls. CCSs aged >8.4 years when diagnosed had significantly lower AMH compared with those aged ≤8.4 years at diagnosis. In addition, CCSs who were older when diagnosed were more often treated with alkylating agents and received a higher Cyclophosphamide Equivalent Dose (CED) compared with those who were younger at diagnosis. POI prevalence was higher for those aged >8.4 years when diagnosed.

**Conclusions:** AMH is a valid serum maker reflecting ovarian function in both CCSs and controls, and is thus valuable in follow-up programmes. CCSs, especially those with POI, should be identified early to receive adequate support. Fertility preservation counselling should be offered to females prior to highly gonadotoxic treatments (i.e., CED  $\geq$ 6 g/m<sup>2</sup>, radiotherapy to the ovaries, or HSCT), which are associated with reduced ovarian markers, POI, and a trend towards reduced fertility outcomes. Finally, younger age at diagnosis seems to be protective of the ovarian function.

Key words: childhood cancer survivors; anti-Müllerian hormone; premature ovarian insufficiency; quality of life; fertility; age at diagnosis

 Language: English
 ISSN: 1652-8220

 ISBN: 978-91-8021-681-4
 Number of pages: 98

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date: 7 February 2025

# The impact of reduced ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment

Anna Nyström



Supervisor Maria Elfving, Associate Professor

Co-supervisors Helena Mörse, PhD Ingrid Øra, Associate Professor Emir Henic, Associate Professor Cover photos by Anna Nyström Copyright pp 1-98 Anna Nyström

Paper I © The Authors 2018 Paper II © The Authors 2021 Paper III © The Authors 2024 Paper IV © The Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Lund University Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

ISBN 978-91-8021-681-4 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2025



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



To my dearest Elsa, Carl, Eric, and Joakim

# Table of Contents

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	10
List of Papers	12
Author's contribution to the papers	13
Abbreviations	15
Introduction	16
The words <i>cancer</i> and <i>oncos</i>	16
Childhood cancer survival	16
Childhood cancer diagnoses	17
Late complications	19
Endocrine complications	21
Female puberty Precocious and delayed puberty	21
Female reproductive system Ovarian reserve Anti-Müllerian hormone Premature ovarian insufficiency	25 26 27 30
Gonadotoxic treatments	32
Fertility preservation	34
Rationale	40
Aims	42
Subjects and methods	43
Subjects	43
Ethical approval	45
Ultrasound	45
Hormonal assays	45
POI diagnosis	46
Assessment of ovarian radiotherapy dose	46
Statistical analyses	47

Study I	47
Study II	47
Study III	47
Study IV	48
Alternative methods	48
Results	50
Study I	50
Participants	
Ovarian markers	
Serum markers compared with ultrasound markers	52
POI	53
ROC curve analysis for ovarian markers	53
Study II	54
Participants	54
TTO values	56
EQ-VAS	57
TTO values and EQ-VAS for current desire for a child	57
Study III	58
Participants	
AMH, AFC, and OV	59
Swedish infertility risk groups, <40 years	60
PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups, <40 years	63
Fertility outcomes for all ages	65
POI	69
Study IV	69
Participants	69
Ovarian markers	70
POI	72
Discussion	
Limitations of our studies	78
Strengths of our studies	79
Conclusions	80
Future perspectives	81
Acknowledgements	
References	

## Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Långtidsöverlevnaden för barn och unga under 18 år som idag insjuknar i cancer är 85 % i Sverige. Det är en fantastisk siffra men den har en baksida. Så många som 60–70 % får komplikationer till följd av sin cancerbehandling, så kallade seneffekter eller sena komplikationer. Dessa komplikationer som kan uppstå många år efter avslutad cancerbehandling kan drabba organ såsom hjärna, hjärta, njurar och skelett. En av de vanligaste komplikationerna är någon typ av hormonbrist som drabbar nästan hälften av överlevarna. Hormoner är ämnen i kroppen som transporteras med hjälp av blodet till olika organ. Deras uppgift är bland annat att styra vår tillväxt, pubertet samt fortplantningen. För att möjliggöra en god livskvalitet hos överlevare behöver vården därför ha stor kunskap om sena komplikationer för att erbjuda behandling i tid. Syftet med vår forskning var att studera äggstocksfunktionen, livskvalitet, fertilitet samt betydelsen av ålder vid insjuknandet hos vuxna kvinnor som överlevt barncancer.

Den mest pålitliga metoden hittills för att bedöma äggstocksfunktionen har varit att titta på antalet äggblåsor med hjälp av ultraljud via slidan, något som kan medföra obehag särskilt för unga kvinnor. Vi ville därför undersöka om anti-Mülleriskt hormon (AMH) som produceras i äggstockarna och mäts med blodprov var en likvärdig metod. Hos friska kvinnor har man sedan tidigare påvisat att dessa två metoder är likvärdiga, dock inte hos de som överlevt barncancer. Vår första delstudie visade att AMH var en pålitlig metod för att utvärdera äggstocksfunktionen hos både canceröverlevare och friska kontroller. Vidare visade våra resultat att 13 % av canceröverlevarna hade drabbats av ett för tidigt klimakterium före 40 års ålder, så kallad prematur ovariell insufficiens (POI), vilket ökar risken för lägre livskvalitet, infertilitet, hjärt-kärlsjukdom och benskörhet.

I vår andra delstudie kunde vi påvisa att kvinnor som överlevt barncancer hade nedsatt livskvalitet jämfört med friska kontroller. Särskild påverkan på livskvalitet hade överlevare med POI.

Den tredje delstudien syftade till att utvärdera äggstocksfunktionen samt fertilitet utifrån given cancerbehandling baserat på den svenska riskskattningen för infertilitet. Vi evaluerade även en internationell riskskattning från PanCareLIFE. Dessa riskskattningar används för att planera eventuella fertilitetsbevarande åtgärder före start av barncancerbehandling. De fertilitetsbevarande åtgärder som finns att tillgå är bland annat nedfrysning av utplockade ägg eller äggstocksvävnad. Vår studie som var den första att bedöma användarbarheten för den svenska riskskattningen visade att flickor som behandlats enligt hög riskskattning hade lägre AMH-nivåer i vuxen ålder, högre förekomst av POI samt tendens till nedsatt fertilitet jämfört med friska kontroller.

Vår fjärde och sista delstudie redovisar sambandet mellan ålder vid insjuknandet och äggstocksfunktionen. Tidigare studier har visat att flickor som insjuknar innan

pubertet har bättre bevarad äggstocksfunktion. I denna delstudie ville vi undersöka om detta samband kunde förklaras av eventuella skillnader i diagnoser och cancerbehandlingar för olika åldrar. Vi fann tämligen liten skillnad i cancerbehandlingar mellan de flickor som insjuknade i yngre och äldre ålder. Flickor som fick sin cancerdiagnos vid äldre ålder hade i större utsträckning blivit behandlade med cellgifter i form av så kallade alkylerare, som anses vara särskilt skadliga mot äggstockarna, dock var det ingen större skillnad i dosen flickorna fått. Vidare noterade vi lägre AMH-nivåer och högre förekomst av POI hos de flickor som fick cancerbehandling vid äldre ålder jämfört med de som var yngre vid insjuknandet.

I takt med att behandlingarna modifierats och förbättrats med tiden och överlevnaden ökat ligger idag fokus på att överleva barncancer till ett rimligt pris. inte längre till varje pris. Dagens höga överlevnadssiffror resulterar i en växande population av barncanceröverlevare som på sikt kan drabbas av sena komplikationer med påverkan på livskvalitet. Dessa sena komplikationer behöver därför identifieras tidigt för att minska lidande och följdsjukdomar. Denna avhandling visar att AMH är pålitlig för att utvärdera äggstocksfunktionen och kan således inkluderas i framtida uppföljningsprogram. Överlevare med POI har särskilt påverkad livskvalitet och dessa kvinnor behöver adekvat information, uppföljning och stöd. Både den svenska och PanCareLIFE riskskattningen för infertilitet är värdefulla redskap för att identifiera flickor med ökad risk för framtida infertilitet. Fertilitetsbevarande åtgärder bör erbjudas alla flickor som ska genomgå cancerbehandling med hög riskskattning för infertilitet. De flickor som genomgått sådan typ av behandling men inte erbjudits dessa åtgärder bör identifieras i tidig vuxenålder för bedömning av reproduktionsförmågan och eventuella åtgärder. Att insjukna vid yngre ålder verkar till en viss del skydda äggstocksfunktionen men även dessa flickor bör erbjudas fertilitetsbevarande åtgärder vid behandling som medför påtaglig infertilitetsrisk. Slutligen, med ökad kunskap om hormonella sena komplikationer efter barncancer kan patienter och familjer få tidigare information, optimerad behandling och en förbättrad uppföljning.

## List of Papers

### Paper I

**Nyström A**, Mörse H, Nordlöf H, Wiebe K, Artman M, Øra I, et al. Anti-müllerian hormone compared with other ovarian markers after childhood cancer treatment. Acta Oncol. 2019;58(2):218-24. doi: 10.1080/0284186x.2018.1529423.

#### Paper II

Hjelmér I, Gustafsson Kylberg A, Fridenborg A, Leijonhufvud I, **Nyström A**, Mörse H, et al. Quality of life among female childhood cancer survivors with and without premature ovarian insufficiency. J Cancer Surviv. 2021. doi: 10.1007/s11764-021-00987-y.

#### Paper III

**Nyström A**, Mörse H, Øra I, Henic E, Engellau J, Wieslander E, et al. Anti-Müllerian hormone and fertility in women after childhood cancer treatment: Association with current infertility risk classifications. PLoS One. 2024;19(8):e0308827. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0308827.

#### Paper IV

Nyström A, Mörse H, Øra I, Henic E, Elfving M. The impact of age at diagnosis on ovarian reserve after childhood cancer treatment. *In manuscript*.

## Author's contribution to the papers

### Paper I

I am the first author of this paper. The first version of this manuscript emerged from a master's dissertation, written by a medical student. Later, I became involved in this PhD project in 2017. I then made major revisions and rewrote the manuscript after my main supervisor and I had reassessed the collected data. All the statistical analyses were reconducted by me and we chose to no longer use paired sample ttest as childhood cancer survivors (CCSs) and controls were not matched for the use of hormone replacement therapy and oral contraceptives. We also chose to present continuous variables as means, having previously presented medians. The tables and figures were produced by me with help from my main supervisor. For the final revision, it was suggested by one of the co-authors to add Receiving Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve, which was conducted by my main supervisor as I was on parental leave. Shortly after this minor revision, my main supervisor submitted the manuscript but kept me updated throughout the whole process and we worked together on the reviewer's comments. After this paper was published, it came to our attention that follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) methods had been updated during the study, i.e., 56 CCSs had FSH values analysed with a previous assay. We reanalysed the data with a transformation for those CCSs to the most recent FSH assay. When I performed these analyses, I noticed that the FSH data was somewhat skewed. Nonparametric tests were therefore added for FSH analyses. The erratum was written by me with suggestions from my main supervisor. These changes have now been incorporated into the published paper.

#### Paper II

For this paper, I am the fifth author. My contribution to this paper was to provide the clinical data regarding age at examination, age at diagnosis, cancer diagnoses and treatments, ovarian markers (i.e., FSH and oestradiol), as well as fertility data and treatments. In addition, questionnaires containing data on quality of life were supplied, but were not analysed by me. During the writing of this paper, we held regular meetings on how the results should be interpreted. The statistical analyses were not performed by me. However, I reviewed the manuscript several times and contributed comments. To be counted as a co-author, the Vancouver rules must be fulfilled. For this paper, I contributed data analysis and manuscript review, approved the final manuscript, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work, thereby fulfilling the rules.

#### Paper III

This paper was prepared by me and my main supervisor from the outset, and I am the first author of this paper. I conducted all the statistical analyses, interpreted the results, prepared the tables and the figures, and wrote the original manuscript draft.

After comments from the supervisors and the co-authors, manuscript revisions were made by me. Furthermore, I submitted the manuscript and was the corresponding author. I wrote the reply to the reviewer's comments with help from my main supervisor, and I carried out the final revision.

#### Paper IV

For this paper, my contribution was the same as for *paper III*. In comparison to the former paper, I independently carried out all the statistical analyses, prepared the tables and the figure, and wrote the manuscript. When all aspects of the manuscript had been completed, I shared it with my supervisors and received valuable comments. This paper is still in manuscript, but will be submitted by me after final revision.

## Abbreviations

AFC	Antral follicle count
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
AMH	Anti-Müllerian hormone
ART	Assisted reproductive technology
AUC	Area under the curve
CCSs	Childhood cancer survivors
CED	Cyclophosphamide Equivalent Dose
CI	Confidence interval
CNS	Central nervous system
E2	17β-oestradiol
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone
GnRH	Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone
GnRHa	Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonists
Gy	Gray
HPG axis	Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis
HRT	Hormone replacement therapy
HSCT	Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation
ICCC	International Classification of Childhood Cancers
IVF	In vitro fertilisation
LH	Luteinising hormone
OC	Oral contraceptives
OV	Ovarian volume
POI	Premature ovarian insufficiency
ROC	Receiving Operating Characteristic
TBI	Total body irradiation
TTO	Time trade-off
VAS	Visual analogue scale

## Introduction

### The words cancer and oncos

Hippocrates (460–370 BC), a Greek physician and the father of modern medicine, was the first person to use the words *carcinos* and *carcinoma* for non-ulcer and ulcer forming tumours, respectively. These terms are attributed to the crab, as cancer projections resemble the crab's legs [1]. Thereafter, Celsus (25 BC–50 AD), a Roman physician, converted the Greek words into the Latin word for crab: *cancer* [1, 2]. Another Greek word, *oncos*, reflecting tumour swelling was introduced by Galen (130–200 AD). This word was latter applied to oncology, which is the branch of medicine treating cancer [1].

### Childhood cancer survival

Over the last 50 years, there has been a major improvement in childhood cancer survival due to advances in diagnostics, combinations of treatments, and supportive care (e.g., infusion of blood and blood products, infection treatments, and intensive care) [3]. The 5-year survival rate for all childhood cancers combined has now exceeded 80% in high-income countries, compared with only 30% in the 1960s [4, 5]. This success began with treating childhood leukaemia, the most common childhood cancer diagnosis, which was viewed before 1960 as incurable and fatal (i.e., untreatable with surgery) [3, 6]. Nowadays, the survival rate is about 95% for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) in Sweden [7]. Moreover, the biggest achievements in survival came about in the 1970s and 1980s, thanks to intensified treatments combining surgery, radiotherapy, and chemotherapy, especially for children with ALL and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Figure 1). Since 1995, survival rates have reached a plateau, but with the latest figures showing further improvements for diagnoses such as acute myeloid leukaemia and neuroblastoma [7, 8].



Figure 1. The 5-year survival rate over time for chilhood cancer diagnoses in Sweden [7].

## Childhood cancer diagnoses

Diagnoses of childhood cancer can be divided into three large groups: leukaemia (30%), central nervous system (CNS) tumours (28%), and solid tumours (42%), and are generally categorised based on histology into 12 major groups according to the International Classification of Childhood Cancers (ICCC) [8, 9]. The distribution of childhood cancer diagnoses is presented in Figure 2. In Sweden, the annual incidence of childhood cancer is 16/100 000 children among those below 15 years of age [8]. This corresponds to 350 children diagnosed with primary cancer each year [10]. Childhood cancer diagnoses are often age-related, with ALL showing a peak incidence for children aged two to four. Neuroblastoma most often affects children younger than one year. Germ cell tumours have two peaks, one at ages zero to three and the other at adolescence. Bone tumours are predominantly seen in

teenagers, while brain tumours exhibit more consistent incidence during childhood. In addition, childhood cancer is most prevalent at the age of five to six years [8].



Figure 2. The distribution of childhood cancer diagnoses in Sweden 1984–2010, <15 years when diagnosed [8].

Cancer is somewhat more common among boys than girls (i.e., a male/female ratio of 1.17). However, both sexes present the same survival rates, and the prognosis is independent of age at diagnosis, with one exception for those aged over 10 when diagnosed showing poorer survival [8].

The distributions of cancer diagnoses and contributing factors are considerably different in adults. The most common cancers in adults are prostate cancer in males and breast cancer in females, representing 30% of all cancer cases for the sexes. Skin cancer is the third most common cancer diagnosis in adults (i.e., 10% of all cancers) [11]. It is estimated that approximately 40.5% of the adult population will develop a malignancy during their lifetime [12]. While childhood cancer is rare, it is still the leading cause of death for children >1 year of age in high-income countries [13]. In contrast to adults, it is rarely possible to identify the cause of childhood cancer. Advanced age and environmental or lifestyle factors are the main contributors for adult malignancy, but not for children [14]. Genetic predisposition has been shown in 9% of all children diagnosed with cancer [15]. The most common gene mutation was in the TP53 gene, associated with Li-Fraumeni syndrome as well as leukaemia, CNS tumours, and sarcoma. Other frequent mutations were in the following genes: APC associated with neuroblastoma and leukaemia, BRCA2

mainly increasing the risk of breast and ovarian cancer in adulthood, NF1 associated with CNS tumours, PMS2 associated with Ewing's sarcoma, and RB1 associated with retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma [15, 16]. Several other familial syndromes, such as Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome, Fanconi anaemia, Noonan syndrome, and von Hippel-Lindau syndrome, are also known to increase the risk of childhood malignancy [17]. The above-mentioned cancer predisposition syndromes are suspected when a child is diagnosed with specific cancer types or bilateral cancers, or when there is a family history of the same cancer type or related cancers [18]. Genetic testing enhances the chances of early detection and treatment of childhood cancer. Although germline mutations add some pieces of the puzzle, the reasons why children develop cancer remain unknown in most cases.

## Late complications

With the tremendous success in survival, the population of childhood cancer survivors (CCSs) has increased. In Sweden, there are approximately 11 000 individuals with a previous or current childhood cancer diagnosis [19]. Furthermore, there are currently 300 000-500 000 CCSs in Europe and about one in every 640 young adults has survived childhood cancer [20]. With these numbers in mind, it has been noted that the journey for children with cancer does not end with surviving the disease. The price of surviving childhood cancer can be high, and the so-called late complications affect as many as 60-80% of survivors [21, 22]. Late complications are defined as a late occurring or chronic condition, either somatic or psychosocial, which occurs later than five years after initial cancer diagnosis [9]. The risk of developing a chronic condition for survivors of childhood cancer was three times higher than for siblings, and for a severe or life-threatening condition the risk increased to eight-fold. In addition, a chronic condition among CCSs contributed to an incidence of 40% for severe or life-threatening disease or death [21]. Late complications were most often observed for those treated for bone tumours, and were least common for those surviving leukaemia or Wilms tumour [22]. Moreover, the prevalence of side effects increases with advanced age of CCSs [23].

Nearly all organs in the body can be affected by previous life-saving treatments [20]. The most frequent late complications are cognitive, psychological, endocrine, cardiovascular, and musculoskeletal, as well as those associated with a second cancer occurring later in life [9]. The wide spectrum of late complications is shown in Figure 3 [24]. Many factors contribute to the occurrence of late complications, such as disease severity, tumour location, age of survivors, surgery, cumulative doses of chemotherapy and radiotherapy, and organs exposed during treatment [9, 25]. Studies have reported that CCSs have an increased risk of second malignancy as they become older compared with the general population [26, 27]. Secondary

leukaemia generally appears within the first ten years after completion of primary cancer treatment, with treatments including high doses of alkylating agents, epipodophyllotoxins (e.g., etoposide), and anthracyclines increasing the risk. By contrast, secondary solid tumours more often occur  $\geq 10$  years after initial diagnosis, usually located in the CNS, thyroid gland, breast, bone, and skin. For secondary solid tumours, high doses of radiotherapy and low age at diagnosis are considered the main risk factors [28]. CCSs have a cumulative incidence of about 1% and 3% for a second malignancy within 10 and 20 years after primary cancer diagnosis, respectively [27]. The cumulative incidence increased to 16% at age 40–55 years, and CCSs had twice the risk of developing a second cancer after 40 years of age compared with the general population. In addition, female sex showed an association with developing a second cancer [26]. The following sections will address the late complications which are the most relevant to this doctoral thesis.



Figure 3. Late complications in survivors of childhood cancer [24]. Reproduced with permission.

## Endocrine complications

One of the most common complications after childhood cancer treatment is endocrine disorders, affecting about 50% of CCSs [29, 30]. Gonadal dysfunction, hypothyroidism, and growth hormone deficiency are most frequently reported among survivors [29]. The main single risk factor for detrimental effects on the hypothalamic-pituitary axis, thyroid gland, and gonads is radiotherapy exposure [25, 31]. Other major risk factors reported were hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) and older age when diagnosed [29]. In particular, the harm to the endocrine system is most notable with higher radiotherapy doses, as well as with increasing age of survivors. However, survivors also presented an elevated risk of thyroid disorders and diabetes, irrespective of treatments given, when compared with siblings without a previous cancer diagnosis [31]. Hence, the high prevalence of endocrine disorders with a debut sometimes several decades after cancer treatment, it is of utmost importance with long-term follow-up for CCSs at risk to reduce morbidity.

## Female puberty

On average, girls begin puberty between the age of eight to 13 years. Considerable emotional and hormonal changes occur during puberty, together with physical changes including breast and pubic hair development (i.e., thelarche and pubarche, respectively), linear growth, and the occurrence of the first menstrual period (i.e., menarche) [32]. Adrenarche, contributing to pubarche, is a sign of androgen production (i.e., dehydroepiandrosterone, DHEA) in the adrenal cortex, and usually starts two years prior to puberty [32-34]. Puberty in girls begins with breast development according to Tanner stages B 2–5, accompanied by a growth spurt at approximately 11 years. Menarche normally appears at an average age of 13 years. After menarche, it can take several years before menstruation becomes regular. Moreover, pubertal timing is influenced by genetic factors, such as the parent's debut of puberty [10].

Puberty starts when the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis becomes activated. In infancy, the HPG axis is transiently active, resulting in a so-called "mini-puberty of infancy", with elevated levels of steroidal hormones causing breast development in some cases. This activation later subsides during the first two years of life, and is regarded as benign [34]. Around one year prior to puberty onset, the dormant HPG axis gets activated when gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) inhibition declines. Thereafter, GnRH is secreted in a pulsatile pattern from the hypothalamus, subsequently leading to follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinising hormone (LH) release from the anterior pituitary gland. FSH stimulates

the granulosa cells in the ovary to produce oestrogen as well as oogenesis (i.e., the formation of oocytes from primordial germ cells), while LH contributes to progesterone production. Growth hormone also stimulates granulosa cells and the ovarian production of insulin-like growth factor 1, as well as reinforces the action of gonadotrophins (i.e., FSH and LH). The HPG axis is regulated by a negative feedback loop, with sex steroids inhibiting GnRH, FSH, and LH secretion (Figure 4) [32].



Figure 4. The hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis and the negative feedback loop exerted by sex hormones (<u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/deed.en</u>, no changes were made) [35].

#### Precocious and delayed puberty

*Precocious (early) puberty* is defined as puberty debuting before eight years of age in girls [10]. A Danish epidemiologic study estimated the prevalence of some form of precocious puberty at 0.2% and <0.05% in females and males, respectively [36]. Another study also showed that precocious puberty is more common among girls, and that genetic inheritance from mothers was paramount [37].

The causes of precocious puberty range from benign to malignant disorders. Precocious puberty can be subdivided further into central and peripheral precocious puberty, according to the aetiology [34].

The most common causes of central precocious puberty are the following [34, 37]:

- Familial precocious puberty (i.e., genetic inheritance of precocious puberty)
- CNS tumours
- CNS injury for instance cranial radiotherapy or surgery
- Syndromes such as neurofibromatosis type 1 and tuberous sclerosis

Many children with a central cause of precocious puberty have, however, no underlying medical condition [38].

Peripheral precocious puberty is independent of gonadotrophins, and is caused by endogenous production or exogenous exposure of sex hormones. It is more rare than central precocious puberty, and is most frequently caused by [34]:

- Ovarian tumours
- Adrenal tumours
- Congenital adrenal hyperplasia
- McCune-Albright syndrome
- Exogenous oestrogen exposure

Treatment of precocious puberty should be directed towards the underlying condition. For central precocious puberty, GnRH agonists (GnRHa) are standard therapy. GnRHa can be administered in several ways, including subcutaneously or intramuscularly, and are either short or long acting. Treatment can be considered if the child is of young age, has fast puberty progression, and/or has advanced bone age with subsequent risk of reduced final height. During therapy, any side effects, pubertal development, linear growth, and bone age should be controlled [34]. The potential side effects of GnRHa are reversible and consist of headache, hot flashes, sweating, and injection site reactions [34, 39]. The purpose of therapy is to achieve optimised adult height, but also to relieve psychosocial stress. Regarding peripheral precocious puberty, treatment intends to remove the excessive production of sex hormones. Therapy for ovarian and adrenal tumours includes, among other things, surgery [34].

*Delayed puberty* is the lack of breast development in girls after 13 years of age [10]. The prevalence is approximately 2% among adolescents [40], and it has several causes such as [32]:

- Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism
- Hypergonadotropic hypogonadism
- Hypopituitarism
- Chromosomal abnormalities

• Hypothalamic dysfunction - secondary to other conditions

Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism is a result of GnRH, FSH, or LH deficiency. Such a deficiency can be due to tumour, surgery, injury, genetic defects, or an infection, involving the hypothalamus or pituitary gland. It can also be seen after long-term use of cortisone, pronounced stress, and malnutrition. In the case of hypergonadotropic hypogonadism, there is a deficiency of sex hormones, and gonadotrophins will be raised because of negligible negative feedback on the HPG axis. Ovarian failure due to autoimmune conditions can be a reason for the development of hypergonadotropic hypogonadism. In hypopituitarism the pituitary gland fails to produce gonadotrophins, and this can occur alongside hypothyroidism, growth abnormalities, as well as adrenal insufficiency. Chromosomal abnormalities can also delay puberty, such as the lack of one X chromosome in females known as Turner syndrome (45 XO). The clinal presentation in these females, in addition to delayed puberty, can also be short height and primary amenorrhea due to ovarian failure. Several conditions, including hypothyroidism, cystic fibrosis, and celiac disease, as well as malnutrition, can also cause delayed puberty [32]. However, in most cases delayed puberty is constitutional, accounting for 53% of all cases and predominantly observed among males (i.e., 63% and 30% of males and females, respectively) [41]. It accounts for an uttermost of the normal range of pubertal onset, and should be considered an exclusion diagnosis [42]. Functional hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, that is having an underlying disease but still spontaneous puberty onset, was shown in 19% of the cases. Permanent hypogonadotropic hypogonadism was observed in 12% of the cases, and hypergonadotropic hypogonadism was noted in 13% of those with delayed puberty [41].

The prevalence of hypogonadotropic hypogonadism is around 11% in CCSs treated with cranial radiotherapy [43], which is considerably higher than the total estimated prevalence of 2% in the general population for delayed puberty [40]. It may present as delayed puberty, arrested puberty (i.e., normal onset of puberty without further progress), or amenorrhea [25]. Amenorrhea (i.e., the absence of menstruation) is categorised as either primary or secondary amenorrhea. Primary amenorrhea is defined as the absence of menarche at 15 years of age or more than three years after breast development. The definition of secondary amenorrhea is no menstruation for  $\geq 3$  months in a female who has previously presented with regular cycles, or  $\geq 6$ months in a female who has previously had at least one menstruation [44]. Moreover, cranial radiotherapy doses of  $\geq 22$  Gray (Gy) were associated with a deficiency of gonadotrophins [43]. Lower doses of 18-24 Gy can also cause precocious puberty, which could be treated with GnRHa. Cranial radiotherapy doses of >30 Gy can often cause permanent deficiency of gonadotrophins, which can appear many years after childhood cancer treatment with a need for long-term follow-up [10]. Screening for a deficiency of gonadotrophins should also be carried out for CCSs with previous tumour localisation in the area of the hypothalamus or pituitary gland [25].

Females with either hypogonadotropic or hypergonadotropic hypogonadism require hormone replacement therapy (HRT), which includes oestrogen and progesterone, for the induction and sustainment of puberty. HRT for this purpose in female adolescents usually consists of transdermal  $17\beta$ -oestradiol and micronised progesterone [45]. Untreated hypogonadotropic hypogonadism has shown associations with hypertension, dyslipidaemia, reduced bone mineral density, and obesity [43].

Importantly, radiotherapy to volumes that expose the ovaries (hereafter referred to as ovarian radiotherapy) and certain chemotherapeutic agents (i.e., alkylating agents) can induce ovarian failure, with consequences such as delayed puberty [10]. The childhood cancer treatments considered especially gonadotoxic are described in detail under the section *Gonadotoxic treatments*.

## Female reproductive system

It is believed that the human ovary at birth consists of a finite number of primordial follicles, as the primordial germ cells are non-renewable after foetal life [46, 47]. This hypothesis, however, has been disputed based on the findings of animal studies indicating the potential renewal of primordial germ cells [48]. The formation of follicles begins at a gestational age of approximately four months, and shortly thereafter reaches the highest number of about 7 million primordial follicles. At birth, approximately 1 million primordial follicles remain with a further decline to about 300 000 by the age of menarche [49]. The decline thereafter occurs in a bi-exponential fashion with an acceleration at around 37 years of age, resulting in an estimated number of 25 000 remaining follicles. At the time of menopause, the number of primordial follicles left is only 1000 (Figure 5) [46, 49]. This estimated decline rate is based on the Faddy-Gosden equation using several mathematical models, commencing from studies that observed follicle number at different ages [46, 47, 49-51].



**Figure 5.** The approximated number of primordial follicles from foetal life to menopause. Across the reproductive lifespan, the majority of growing follicles undergo atresia [49]. Reproduced with permission.

Each primordial follicle consists of an oocyte that is surrounded by somatic granulosa cells. A woman will have approximately 400 ovulatory cycles through the reproductive lifespan [49]. At each cycle, one of the growing follicles will mature to become the dominant follicle, releasing an oocyte at ovulation. Thus, most growing follicles will be lost due to atresia and apoptosis [52]. At the onset of puberty, FSH begins to stimulate the granulosa cells of the growing follicles, which than start to proliferate and produce oestrogen [49]. LH has a midcycle surge during the menstrual cycle, and regulates ovulation. After ovulation, the corpus luteum produces progesterone, causing endothelial proliferation in the endometrium. This results in a thickened endometrium, where implantation of the fertilised egg can take place [49, 53].

#### **Ovarian reserve**

The term "ovarian reserve" traditionally refers to the reproductive potential of a female, which comprises both the residual number of oocytes (i.e., primordial follicles) as well as their quality at any point in time [54]. Several ovarian markers are used in the clinic to assess the ovarian reserve, including biochemical tests (i.e., anti-Müllerian hormone [AMH], FSH, oestradiol, and inhibin B), as well as ultrasonographic measures (i.e., antral follicle count [AFC] and ovarian volume [OV]) [55]. However, ovarian reserve markers such as AMH and AFC reflect the

quantity of oocytes rather than their quality. The age of the female is still considered the best predictor of oocyte quality. Hence, ovarian reserve should be used to describe the persisting oocyte quantity [56].

Another term, "diminished or decreased ovarian reserve", applies to females with regular cycles, but with a poorer response to ovarian stimulation or fertility compared with those of similar age. The reason for diminished ovarian reserve is, in most cases, unclarified. However, it is known that cancer treatments as well as genetic disorders such as Turner syndrome or FMR1 premutations can compromise the ovarian reserve [54]. Lifestyle factors do not seem to affect the ovarian reserve, although ongoing smoking is associated with raised FSH levels [54, 57]. Moreover, it is unknown whether diminished ovarian reserve is due to an abnormal accelerated atresia of growing follicles with a normal primordial follicle pool initially, or whether it is due to natural atresia but with an innate reduced follicle pool. No evidence currently exists for the assumption of varying atresia rate in healthy females. However, there is histological support for variation in the number of primordial follicles at birth [51]. In addition, decreased ovarian reserve precedes menopause, which is considered the end of a female's reproductive years [54]. The age of menopause occurrence varies widely between individuals. A Dutch study including over 4000 females found a mean menopause age of 50.2 years (24-62), with a standard deviation of ±4.2 [58]. Furthermore, the FSH cut-off level is typically 40 IU/L for menopause, but FSH by itself is of limited use in predicting when transition into menopause will occur [59].

### Anti-Müllerian hormone

AMH is a glycoprotein belonging to the transforming growth factor-beta superfamily, with an important role in folliculogenesis. Its function is to inhibit the recruitment of primordial follicles from the dormant primordial follicle pool. AMH is produced by the granulosa cells of growing follicles, i.e., from the stage of primary to small antral follicle. The production of AMH in large antral follicles seems to vanish gradually (Figure 6) [60-62].



Figure 6. Illustration of folliculogenesis, the maturation from the primiordial follicles to one ovulatory follicle, regulated by several hormones [62]. Reproduced with permission.

AMH is a serum marker, which is already detectable at birth, with a rise during the first year of life followed by a small decline [63]. This agrees with the observed "mini-puberty of infancy", with a transient activation of the HPG axis [34]. It later increases during childhood with a temporary drop around puberty, whereafter a final peak occurs at the age of approximately 24.5 years. After this peak, AMH decreases until it becomes non-detectable at the time of menopause (Figure 7) [63].



Figure 7. AMH values from conception to menopause, derived from 3260 healthy females. From Kelsey et al. 2011 [63].

AMH is considered a valid serum marker for ovarian reserve assessment in healthy adult females, with significant correlation to histologically verified primordial follicle count. AFC (i.e., the total number of growing follicles 2–10 mm in diameter in both ovaries) measured during the early follicular phase has been the gold standard method in the clinical setting for estimating the ovarian reserve, as it also correlates well with the remaining number of primordial follicles [64]. However, this method is assessed using transvaginal ultrasound, and is therefore unfeasible in children and can also cause discomfort for younger females. AMH and AFC are now considered equivalent methods. Besides AMH and AFC, several other methods are utilised as mentioned for evaluating ovarian reserve, including OV as well as serum levels of FSH, oestradiol, and inhibin B [55].

Inhibin B is also a glycoprotein hormone produced by the granulosa cells under FSH influence, exerting negative feedback on FSH secretion [65]. In contrast to AMH, it is secreted by larger follicles such as antral follicles from puberty, reflecting follicular growth (Figure 6). Inhibin B can therefore also be used to evaluate ovarian reserve [66]. The levels of inhibin B fluctuate during the menstrual cycle, with an increase in the follicular phase, a peak after the midcycle FSH surge, and a decrease during the luteal phase [65].

As AMH is not involved in the negative feedback system, it presents with little variation during the menstrual cycle, and is thus assessable at any time [67, 68]. On

the other hand, as mentioned earlier, FSH, oestradiol, and inhibin B are all involved in the feedback system and should therefore be measured during the early follicular phase (i.e., days 2–5 of the menstrual cycle) in females with regular cycles [32, 65]. Furthermore, there have been conflicting results regarding the AMH decrease using oral hormonal therapy, with one study finding a 20% reduction for users and other studies reporting no difference [69-71]. Regarding FSH and sex steroids, the use of HRT and oral contraceptives (OC) affect the hormone concentrations, which contribute to interpretation difficulties regarding ovarian reserve [72]. With advancing age, the depletion of primordial follicles leads to reduced levels of inhibin B and oestradiol, followed by increased FSH [73]. Moreover, another advantage of AMH is that it declines prior to the FSH increase, and is hence the preferable serum marker for detecting reduced ovarian reserve [74, 75].

Ovarian reserve markers are mainly used to predict which patients are eligible for in vitro fertilisation (IVF) [54]. IVF is the most common type of assisted reproductive technology (ART), a method where oocytes are stimulated and matured in vivo (i.e., the ovaries), but fertilised in vitro (i.e., in a petri dish). The fertilised egg (i.e., the embryo) is thereafter transferred into the uterus, where pregnancy evolves. The first live birth with the IVF technique was reported in 1978 in England. Today, IVF accounts for 5% of the total number of live births in Europe and 2% in the United States [76, 77]. Furthermore, most IVF clinics report AMH as the preferable ovarian reserve test for predicting the ovarian response to IVF. However, the best predictor of live birth was the patient's age [78]. Thus, AMH and AFC are considered good predictors of quantitative measures (i.e., ovarian responsiveness and oocyte retrieval), but not of qualitative measures (i.e., pregnancy and live birth rates) [55, 79]. Indeed, a Danish prospective study did not report decreased fertility in healthy females in their mid-20s with low AMH. Females in this study with high AMH levels presented with lower probability of conceiving [80]. Another study reported that most females with high AMH levels have polycystic ovarian syndrome [81], which presents with anovulatory infertility and affects about 7–15% of females of reproductive age [82]. Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (i.e., an IVF treatment complication) is also more common among females with elevated AMH [81].

#### **Premature ovarian insufficiency**

Premature ovarian insufficiency (POI), also referred to in the literature as primary ovarian insufficiency or premature ovarian failure, is a condition with decreased ovarian function before 40 years of age [54, 83]. The term premature ovarian failure is not preferable, as ovarian dysfunction may change over time. POI is diagnosed when a female fulfils the following criteria [84]:

 $\circ$  Amenorrhea  $\geq$ 4 months

- Low oestradiol
- $\circ$  Two measures of serum FSH >40 IU/L obtained one month apart
- Below 40 years of age

During childhood, POI may manifest as delayed or absent puberty, or as a disruption in the progression of puberty [85]. As mentioned, natural menopause occurs at a mean age of 50 years [58]. POI can sometimes be transient or can ultimately progress into menopause before the age of 40 years, which is considered the endstage of POI [84]. Hence, a female with POI still has a remaining ovarian function to some extent, while menopause presents depletion of primordial follicles and permanent cessation of menses [86]. It has been reported that 50–75% of females with POI have intermittent ovulation and 5–10% conceive spontaneously [87, 88].

Prior to POI diagnosis, other possible causes of secondary amenorrhoea must be excluded such as pregnancy, hypothyroidism, and genetic disorders (e.g., FMR1 gene premutation) [86, 89]. The process behind POI is not fully clarified, but is believed to be due to an inherently reduced number of primordial follicles, disturbances in the recruitment of primordial follicles, or an increased atresia rate. The aetiologies of POI include autoimmune, genetic, metabolic, infectious, and iatrogenic causes [83]. Unfortunately, for 90% of females diagnosed with spontaneous POI (i.e., normal karyotype), the cause will be unknown [90]. Iatrogenic causes such as childhood cancer treatments, including alkylating agents, ovarian radiotherapy, and conditioning regimen prior to HSCT, are considered highly gonadotoxic. These cancer treatments can accelerate follicular loss, consequently resulting in POI [91-93].

POI causes menopausal symptoms such as hot flashes, night sweating, vaginal dryness, and dyspareunia [90]. However, it is also associated with more severe health complications including reduced quality of life, depression, infertility, metabolic syndrome, osteoporosis, and cardiovascular disease [84, 90, 94, 95]. The POI prevalence among CCSs is about 8–11%, which is considerably higher than in the general population (i.e., 1-2%) [83, 93, 96, 97]. CCSs report that infertility has a negative influence on well-being and intimate relationships [98]. They also express doubt about having children because of their previous cancer diagnosis [98], with concerns regarding the biological child's health but also their own physical health [99-101]. CCSs are less likely to have a biological child compared with siblings without a prior cancer diagnosis [102]. Cancer survivors are also at greater risk of subfertility and delivery complications [103]. Nevertheless, they still express a longing for future biological children [101]. However, for CCSs with POI, the chance of conceiving spontaneously is limited (i.e., 5–10%), which is why egg donation with IVF is advised [87-89].

HRT is recommended for females with POI to ease discomfort from vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness, as well as to decrease the risk of the above-

mentioned associated comorbidities. The therapy consists usually of 50–100  $\mu$ g transdermal oestradiol daily and, for those with a uterus, an additional 5–10 mg of medroxyprogesterone acetate for 12 days each month is advised. Contraception should be offered for those not desiring pregnancy. In such a case, combined oral contraceptives can be used as both contraception and HRT. However, for those preferring intrauterine devices or barrier methods, supplemental HRT is needed [83]. The duration of HRT is generally recommended up to the age when natural menopause occurs (i.e., 50–51 years) [58, 83]. There have been concerns regarding the elevated risk of breast cancer for those on HRT; however, studies did not find an association either for those aged 40–49 years in the general population or for those with POI on HRT [104, 105]. No different therapy approach is therefore needed for CCSs with POI unless there is a family history of breast cancer.

Considering the potential impact POI has on an individual's life, it is of the utmost importance to detect CCSs at risk in time to limit the morbidity and mortality associated with oestrogen deficiency.

## Gonadotoxic treatments

It is well documented that alkylating agents, ovarian radiotherapy, and conditioning regimen before HSCT have a harmful effect on the ovarian function. These treatments are further detrimental with increasing doses or when combined [92, 93, 106, 107]. Alkylating agents such as cyclophosphamide, busulfan, and procarbazine are reported to be the most gonadotoxic of the chemotherapeutic agents used to treat childhood cancer [108-111]. There are two quantitative methods suggested for calculating cumulative alkylating agent exposure: the Alkylating Agent Dose (AAD) and the Cyclophosphamide Equivalent Dose (CED). The AAD score is obtained from each study population's drug dose distribution, with the disadvantage that it cannot be applied to compare the score between different populations because every population will have its own distribution. CED is recommended as it is independent of a specific distribution and can therefore be used to compare results from different cohorts [112]. Thus, we chose to use CED in our studies. The alkylating agents included in the CED are presented in Table 1, where each agent's cumulative dose is multiplied by the conversion factor and subsequently summed together.

Alkylating agent	mg/m²
Cyclophosphamide	1.0
Ifosfamide	0.244
Procarbazine	0.857
Chlorambucil	14.286
BCNU	15.0
CCNU	16.0
Melphalan	40
Thio-TEPA	50
Nitrogen mustard	100
Busulfan	8.823

Table 1. The Cyclophosphamide Equivalent Dose (CED) equation [112].

There are two possible theories on how chemotherapeutic agents induce follicular loss in the ovaries (Figure 8) [113]:

- 1. Direct damage to the primordial follicles
- 2. Indirect by damage to growing follicles, causing depletion of primordial follicles because of increased turnover



Figure 8. The potential mechanims of ovarian damage caused by chemotherapeutic agents [113]. Reproduced with permission.
Moreover, chemotherapeutic agents can cause harm to either the oocyte or the surrounding granulosa cells, contributing to oocyte death in both cases (Figure 8). The granulosa cells are highly proliferating and might therefore be primarily affected by alkylating agents, which inhibit cell division by forming deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) cross-linking. On the other hand, oocytes are non-dividing, possibly making them less targeted [113]. Aside from inducing DNA damage by free radicals, ovarian radiotherapy also causes fibrosis as well as damage to the blood vessels in the ovarian tissue [114, 115].

To date, many studies have shown reduced ovarian markers in CCSs [74, 75, 109, 111, 116, 117]. Green et al. reported that CCSs treated with an ovarian radiotherapy dose >5 Gy were less likely to conceive, and the likelihood decreased even more with increased doses. The same was evident for higher doses of alkylating agents [107]. A more recent study by van den Berg et al. identified that CED of  $>7 \text{ g/m}^2$ and any radiotherapy dose to the lower abdomen were consistent with decreased fertility [118]. CCSs who received combined treatment of alkylating agents and lower abdominal radiotherapy had a POI prevalence of 30% [93]. Moreover, Wallace et al. have calculated the effective sterilising dose (i.e., a dose resulting in immediate POI), which is lower with increased age of the patient. The sterilising dose was 20, 18, 17, and 14 Gy at birth, 10 years, 20 years, and 30 years, respectively [119]. Kelsev et al. have also developed a predictive model for POI timing, incorporating the patient's age at cancer diagnosis along with the ovarian radiotherapy dose [120]. In addition, radiotherapy involving the uterus in the field carries risks such as preterm birth, babies small for gestational age (SGA), and congenital malformations because of affected myometrial elasticity and reduced uterine blood flow [121, 122].

It is difficult to define an exact toxic threshold dose of chemotherapeutic agents and radiotherapy due to interindividual differences among patients, which is most likely genetically determined [123]. The ovarian damage is dependent not only of the cumulative dose and type of cancer treatment used, but also of the patient's age. Several studies have reported better preserved ovarian function in CCSs treated before puberty [124-128]. This observation could be explained by the fact that younger girls have a larger primordial follicle pool to start with.

### Fertility preservation

In 2021, the EU-funded PanCareLIFE, together with the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group (IGHG) (hereafter referred to as PanCareLIFE only), presented fertility preservation guidelines along with infertility risk classifications for females based on childhood cancer treatments

given [129]. The infertility risk classifications stated by PanCareLIFE and the Swedish guidelines are outlined in Tables 2 and 3, respectively [129, 130].

 Table 2. The infertility risk classification for females based on the PanCareLIFE guidelines [129].

Group 1	Group 2	Group 3	Group 4
Other treatments	Unilateral oophorectomy	- CED <6 g/m <sup>2</sup> - Cranial radiotherapy	- CED ≥6 g/m² - Ovarian radiotherapy - HSCT

CED: Cyclophosphamide Equivalent Dose; HSCT: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

Low-risk	Moderate-risk	High-risk	Very high-risk
- Vincristine	- Cisplatin	- Cyclophosphamide	<ul> <li>&gt;10 Gy to the ovaries</li> </ul>
- Methotrexate	- Carboplatin	>6 g/m²	- Allogenic HSCT
- Actinomycin D	- Cyclophosphamide	- Ifosfamide	- Autologous HSCT
- Bleomycin	<6 g/m <sup>2</sup>	>60 g/m <sup>2</sup>	-
- Mercaptopurine	- Ifosfamide	- Procarbazine	
- Vinblastine	<60 g/m <sup>2</sup>	- BCNU	
- 5-fluorouracil	- CCNU	- CCNU	
(5-FU)	<360 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	>360 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	
		- <10 Gy to the	
		ovaries	

Table 3. The infertility risk classification for females based on the Swedish guidelines [130].

Gy: gray; HSCT: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. This is the upcoming edition with reduced cumulative doses for cyclophosphamide (earlier, <9 g/m<sup>2</sup> for the moderate-risk group and >9 g/m<sup>2</sup> for the high-risk group).

The Swedish guidelines are more detailed, as they divide the PanCareLIFE group 4 (i.e., the group treated with the most gonadotoxic treatments) into high-risk and very high-risk groups. According to the PanCareLIFE guidelines, groups 2–4 are considered to have a potential infertility risk, but not group 1. In addition, the PanCareLIFE recommendations consider ovarian radiotherapy to be a highly gonadotoxic treatment, irrespective of the dose [129].

Until now, there are no existing methods for protecting the ovarian follicles in vivo during chemotherapy. A possible fertility preservation option for post-pubescent girls is oocyte cryopreservation. This established method is, however, not feasible for pre-pubescent girls because of immature oocytes. Pre-pubescent girls can therefore only be provided ovarian tissue cryopreservation, which was regarded as experimental up until relatively recently. Oocyte cryopreservation should be offered prior to highly gonadotoxic therapy, i.e., treatments according to group 4 as well as the high-risk and very high-risk groups, as stated in both guidelines. Regarding ovarian tissue cryopreservation, the guidelines vary slightly for pre-pubescent girls with the Swedish guidelines recommending this measure for those considered at very high infertility risk, whereas the PanCareLIFE guidelines state moderate consideration for those in group 4 [129, 130].

The main possible risk associated with oocyte cryopreservation is the treatment delay, which might compromise the prognosis. The subcutaneous hormonal stimulation usually takes 10–14 days before oocyte retrieval can be performed (Figure 9) [130]. Moreover, oocyte retrieval is an invasive method, with the use of an aspiration needle either transvaginally or abdominally, guided by ultrasound. This procedure can be conducted under sedation or general anaesthesia [131]. One alternative to oocyte cryopreservation is embryo cryopreservation. However, most post-pubescent girls will choose the former, as they are less likely to be in a partnership and not show an interest in donor sperm [129]. Concerning the nature of this procedure, it can be accompanied by emotional distress, as observed in adult females undergoing IVF, as well as hormonal adverse effects (e.g., ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome) [132, 133].



**Figure 9.** Fertiliy preservation options for childhood cancer patients. A Oocyte cryopreservation for postpubescent girls. Thawed oocytes are later used for IVF. **B** Ovarian tissue cryopreservation for prepubescent girls or for post-pubescent girls in need of immediate cancer therapy. Cryopreservation by vitrification and slow freezing are preferable for oocytes and ovarian tissue, respectively. Reproduced from Chen et al., Front. Endocrinol., 2023 [134].

In young children, ovarian volume is smaller, thus instead of performing multiple biopsies, a whole ovary is typically removed laparoscopically for cryopreservation. The ovarian tissue cryopreservation procedure is also invasive under general anaesthesia, but does not cause a delay to cancer treatment and can therefore also be used in post-pubescent girls requiring immediate treatment [130, 135]. This procedure is usually performed under anaesthesia for another reason, such as for diagnostic purposes or during cancer treatment. The site of future reimplantation of thawed ovarian tissue can be either orthotopic (i.e., in the peritoneum of the ovarian fossa or at the location of the remaining ovary) or heterotopic (i.e., subcutaneously in the abdomen or the forearm) (Figure 9). The first mentioned is favoured as it

provides the chance to restore ovarian function and spontaneous conception, while heterotopic transplantation necessitates subsequent ART [135]. For survival, the implanted ovarian tissue must undergo neovascularisation, a critical process with animal studies reporting extensive loss of follicles [136, 137]. Another major concern with this method is the possible reintroduction of malignant cells, while oocyte or embryo cryopreservation confer no such risk. The risk is particularly evident for CCSs with a prior diagnosis of leukaemia, non-Hodgkin lymphoma, or solid tumours with metastases [129, 135]. Before reimplantation, one of the cortical fragments can be histopathologically investigated to ensure the absence of malignant cells [135]. Furthermore, the pioneering transplantation of ovarian tissue was first conducted in 1999, and the first pregnancy resulting from this method was accomplished five years later [138]. In Sweden, the first live birth following transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue was announced in 2013 [139]. Shortly afterwards in 2014, a successful transplantation of cryopreserved ovarian tissue resulted in a spontaneous pregnancy and the first live birth from a graft preserved before menarche at the age of 13 years [140]. To date, >200 live births have been described worldwide using this technique [141]. However, reports on puberty induction and achieved pregnancies from pre-pubescent transplants are still limited [142-144].

Oophoropexy (i.e., transposition of the ovaries) is another established method for patients undergoing ovarian radiotherapy. This method also requires laparoscopic surgery under general anaesthesia. Before planned ovarian radiotherapy, PanCareLIFE makes a moderate recommendation for this procedure after discussion with a radiation oncologist [129]. In the current Swedish guidelines, oophoropexy is not outlined as a recommended fertility preservation measure [130].

The use of GnRHa is still considered an experimental fertility preservation option for childhood cancer patients [129]. Due to findings that pre-pubescent girls have better preserved ovarian function after cancer treatment, it has been hypothesised that GnRHa can return the ovaries to a dormant stage by suppressing the HPG axis [124-128]. In this state, the ovaries could potentially be less susceptible to the gonadotoxic effect of chemotherapeutic agents. An animal study found that GnRHa reduce the ovarian vascular permeability as well as density, and could therefore possibly restrict the amount of chemotherapeutic agent reaching the ovary [145]. Current guidelines state that GnRHa might be recommended for young women with breast cancer, but not as a substitute for proven fertility preservation methods [146].

Cancer survivors experience emotional distress because of comprised reproductive potential [147]. CCSs also express concern about future fertility [148]. About 50% of CCSs reported no memory of receiving counselling regarding gonadotoxic effects on fertility. For those who were counselled, worrying about their offspring's cancer risk was less pronounced and they more often sought fertility investigation [149]. Another study found that survivors want to be informed about future fertility [150]. In addition, females who underwent infertility counselling as well as fertility

preservation prior to their cancer treatment had better quality of life [151]. This illustrates the ongoing need for healthcare providers to offer improved counselling, and all childhood cancer patients and their parents should therefore be informed about the potential future infertility risk [129]. There is also a need to give adequate support for the emotional concerns that survivors experience. Lastly, to provide appropriate counselling on fertility and fertility preservation, it is of great importance to identify treatment risk factors that could jeopardise future reproductive health.

# Rationale

When we wrote *paper I*, it was well known that AMH correlates significantly with AFC in healthy females [64]. However, to the best of our knowledge, no studies had previously investigated whether this was also true for CCSs. As several studies indicated decreased AMH levels in CCSs compared with healthy controls [75, 109, 116], we hypothesised that AMH could be a useful serum marker for identifying reduced ovarian reserve in this population. Based on this knowledge gap, current guidelines do not include AMH as a routine ovarian reserve marker in follow-up programmes for assessment of POI in CCSs [10, 85]. Therefore, we wanted to explore whether AMH could serve as a marker for ovarian reserve in CCSs, as well as investigating its value in predicting POI and low AFC.

POI is associated with infertility, a state that is known to have a significant impact on well-being [98, 147]. When planning *paper II*, we wanted to investigate quality of life in all CCSs, and especially CCSs with POI, compared with healthy controls. Our hypothesis was that those CCSs with POI who longed for children but were unable to have them would have poorer quality of life than females who had the opportunity to have as many children as they wanted. Investigating quality of life among females with POI and infertility might not bridge a knowledge gap, but it strengthens the current knowledge within this field and potentially identifies the need for enhanced follow-up and support.

Regarding *paper III*, this study is the first of its kind known to us, to focus on both evaluating and comparing the Swedish and PanCareLIFE infertility risk guidelines. Based on these guidelines, we investigated ovarian markers, fertility, and POI prevalence according to the estimated infertility risk. Furthermore, we explored this in a study population treated before fertility preservation measures could be offered to childhood cancer patients.

It is hypothesised that the larger primordial follicle pool in younger cancer patients could reduce the overall gonadotoxic effect of cancer treatments. To date, several studies have reported an association between younger age at cancer diagnosis (i.e., pre-pubescent) and better preserved ovarian function [124-128]. However, this finding has been mostly reported as an association without making further efforts to seek an explanation in terms of cancer diagnoses and treatments that might differ depending on age when diagnosed. For this reason, in *paper IV*, we divided up CCSs

based on age at diagnosis and evaluated ovarian markers, POI prevalence, and cancer diagnoses and treatments between the groups.

# Aims

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate the late complications on ovarian function after childhood cancer treatment in an adult population of female survivors compared with healthy matched controls.

The specific aims were:

*Paper I:* To estimate the prevalence of POI and compare ovarian serum markers with AFC and OV.

Paper II: To evaluate quality of life among CCSs with and without POI.

*Paper III:* To assess ovarian function and fertility using the Swedish and PanCareLIFE infertility risk classifications. We also aimed to evaluate and compare these classifications.

*Paper IV:* To investigate the association between age at diagnosis, ovarian markers, and POI.

# Subjects and methods

## Subjects

The studies included adult female survivors who underwent childhood cancer treatment between 1964 and 2008 in southern Sweden. All CCSs were diagnosed below 18 years of age, and had been off their treatment more than two years before inclusion. We excluded those who were diagnosed with rare cancers (e.g., thyroid and skin cancer) and those treated only with surgery for solid tumours outside the CNS. CCSs that met the inclusion criteria were identified from the Swedish Cancer Registry. Healthy controls were recruited from the same geographical region (i.e., southern Sweden) using the Swedish Population Registry and matched for sex, birth date, and ethnicity. Later, upon enrolment, they were also matched regarding smoking habits. Eligible participants were recruited between October 2010 and November 2015.

Data retrieved from the questionnaires included age at menarche, occurrence of primary or secondary amenorrhoea, ongoing or previous HRT, and use of contraceptives. Fertility information included number of pregnancies, children born or adopted, desire for children in the future, and fertility investigation and treatment. We also gathered information regarding relationship status.

The EQ-5D-3L questionnaire was used to evaluate quality of life, which concerns an individual's self-assessment of their health state and well-being. This questionnaire contains two parts: a descriptive system and a visual analogue scale (VAS). The descriptive system explores five dimensions including mobility, hygiene/self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. For each dimension, there are three answers: 1=no problems, 2=some problems, and 3=extreme problems. In total, this gives 243 possible health states, e.g., the health state 11111 revealing no problems at all. These health states are converted into an index value, presenting the individual's health state in comparison to the preferences of the general population in a country or region (i.e., a value set). Value sets have been extracted for many countries, including Sweden, by applying the time tradeoff (TTO) valuation technique or the VAS valuation technique. The second part of this questionnaire contains a VAS with a range of 0-100, reflecting the subject's health on the present day. On this scale, 0 and 100 represent the worst and the best imaginable health, respectively. This questionnaire provides a quantitative assessment of health at a group level [152]. In our study II, the health state is presented as mean TTO values and well-being as mean EQ-VAS. CCSs with hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian insufficiency were excluded due to the well-known influence of hypothalamic injuries on quality of life. Subjects who did not complete the EQ-5D-3L questionnaire or who had missing data were also excluded. Moreover, CCSs with POI were compared with CCSs without POI as well as with controls.

We retrieved comprehensive information concerning cancer diagnoses and treatments from medical records, the Childhood Cancer Registry, and BORISS (Paediatric Oncology Registry in South Sweden) [153]. For each CCS, the cumulative doses of chemotherapeutic agents and radiotherapy administered were collected.

In study III, CCSs were allocated into four infertility risk groups based on the Swedish guidelines for infertility risk assessment (Table 3) [130]. Recently, the cumulative doses for cyclophosphamide have been lowered from <9 to <6 g/m<sup>2</sup> for the moderate-risk group and from >9 to >6  $g/m^2$  for the high-risk group. CCSs that were incompatible with the risk groups in Table 3 were distributed to the no risk, surgery only, or unilateral oophorectomy groups. CCSs were also categorised according to the PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups, i.e., groups 1–4 (Table 2) [129]. The PanCareLIFE guidelines utilise CED for their infertility risk assessment, wherefore the following equation was applied: CED  $(mg/m^2) = 1.0$  (cumulative cyclophosphamide dose  $[mg/m^2]$ ) + 0.244 (cumulative ifosfamide dose  $[mg/m^2]$ ) + 0.857 (cumulative procarbazine dose  $[mg/m^2]$ ) + 14.286 (cumulative chlorambucil dose  $[mg/m^2]$  + 15.0 (cumulative BCNU dose  $[mg/m^2]$ ) + 16.0 (cumulative CCNU dose  $[mg/m^2]$  + 40 (cumulative melphalan dose  $[mg/m^2]$  + 50 (cumulative Thio-TEPA dose  $[mg/m^2]$  + 100 (cumulative nitrogen mustard dose  $[mg/m^2]$ ) + 8.823 (cumulative busulfan dose  $[mg/m^2]$ ) (Table 1) [112]. As far as we know, no studies have compared similar cyclophosphamide doses administered intravenously and orally. We therefore chose not to include oral doses of cyclophosphamide in the Swedish infertility risk assessment or in the CED calculation. Furthermore, the definition of alkylating agents provided by van Dorp et al. was used. In this definition, carboplatin, cisplatin, mustine, and dacarbazine are included, but these agents are not incorporated into the calculation of CED [85].

For the final *study IV*, CCSs were divided into two groups based on the age at diagnosis, i.e.,  $\leq 8.4$  and > 8.4 years when diagnosed. This cut-off was derived from the median age when diagnosed.

## Ethical approval

Before inclusion, all subjects gave their written informed consent. *Studies I–IV* were approved by the Regional Ethics Committee, Medical Faculty, Lund University, Sweden (approval no. 523/2009).

## Ultrasound

All included subjects underwent clinical examination at the Reproductive Medicine Centre (RMC) at Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden, during the period October 2010–January 2015. To estimate AFC (i.e., the sum of follicles measuring 2–10 mm in diameter in both ovaries) and OV (i.e., the total volume of both ovaries), six different clinicians performed transvaginal ultrasound with BK Medical Flex Focus 500 and BK Medical Pro Focus scanners. Only females with an assessment of the total AFC and OV of both ovaries were included. The limit for diminished ovarian reserve was set at AFC below 10 [154].

## Hormonal assays

Blood samples for AMH, inhibin B, FSH, and  $17\beta$ -oestradiol (E2) were obtained during fasting on days 2–5 of the menstrual cycle (i.e., early follicular phase) for females with regular cycles and on a random day for those with irregular cycles, amenorrhea, or the use of HRT or OC. For the analyses of FSH and E2, females with ongoing use of HRT were excluded. Likewise, subjects who were taking OC as well as progesterone in the form of a pill, subcutaneous implant, or depot injection were also excluded. Since an intrauterine device, whether progesterone or copper, does not appear to affect the levels of FSH and E2, subjects with these devices were included in the analyses [155]. All blood samples were centrifuged and kept at -20°C prior to the analysis.

Serum AMH and inhibin B levels were analysed at the Laboratory of Reproductive Biology, Copenhagen, Denmark. The ultrasensitive enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was used for AMH analysis, with a detection threshold of 0.023 ng/ml. Values below this limit were stated as 0. We measured inhibin B using MCA1312KZZ (Oxford Bio-Innovation Ltd., Oxfordshire, UK) with a detection limit of 20 pg/ml (i.e., values <20 pg/ml were specified as 0).

FSH levels (Roche) were analysed at the Department of Clinical Chemistry, Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, Sweden. During *study I*, the FSH method was updated, with values for 56 CCSs analysed using the previous assay with a higher

detection limit (i.e., 0.2 IU/L). Other remaining CCSs, including controls, had FSH levels measured with the latest assay (Roche) (i.e., detection limit of 0.1 IU/L). The FSH levels measured with the previous assay were therefore recalculated to the most recent assay using a conversion factor as outlined by Bobjer et al. [156]. FSH values below the detection limit (i.e., <0.1 IU/L) were specified as 0.

E2 levels (DELFIA PerkinElmer Inc.) were measured at the same department as FSH. The detection threshold was 10 pmol/L, and values below this threshold were stated as 0. The intra- and inter-assay variation coefficients were less than 10%.

## POI diagnosis

The former introduced definition of POI was not applicable in our studies, because nearly all subjects with ovarian insufficiency were treated with HRT. Therefore, FSH and E2 levels were not reliable for POI diagnosis. Hence, we defined POI as amenorrhoea and ongoing or earlier HRT treatment, together with undetectable (i.e., <0.023 ng/ml) or very low (i.e., <0.1 ng/ml) AMH levels, in females aged <40 years. Hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian insufficiency was not included in this definition.

### Assessment of ovarian radiotherapy dose

Altogether, 21 CCSs were treated with craniospinal or flank radiotherapy. Estimations of the radiotherapy doses to the right and left ovaries were extracted from the subject's radiotherapy records, along with x-ray images and/or anatomical sketches or photographs of radiotherapy fields, by two radiation physicists and a radiation oncologist. For many subjects, the dose to each ovary could not be estimated precisely because the positioning of the ovaries in relation to the radiation field was inconclusive, and these doses were therefore estimated as intervals. In case of a discrepancy between the dose to the ovaries, the subject was grouped into the infertility risk classifications based on the lowest dose or interval.

### Statistical analyses

#### Study I

For evaluation of data distribution, histograms were applied. We presented descriptive data as mean (range), count, and percentage. Independent sample t-test and Fisher's exact test were used to analyse continuous and categorical variables, respectively. Scatter plots illustrated correlations, which were calculated with Pearson correlation. For continuous variables, linear regression was performed to compare CCSs and controls. As FSH data was not normally distributed, additional analyses were added such as Mann-Whitney U test and Spearman correlation. ROC curves were performed to evaluate variables as predictors of several outcomes. P<0.05 was regarded as statistically significant, and the confidence interval (CI) was set at 95%. The IBM Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) version 24 was used for statistical analyses.

#### Study II

Univariate analysis of variance and independent sample t-test were used to compare continuous variables between the groups. Chi-squared test was performed to compare categorical variables among the groups. TTO values and EQ-VAS were analysed for normal distribution within the groups using the Shapiro-Wilk test. For pairwise comparisons between more than two groups, a relevant post hoc test was performed. Linear regression analysis was used with adjustment for variables such as age at examination, having a child (yes or no), current desire for a child, desire for future children, and partnership status. We chose these variables as they might impact TTO values and EQ-VAS. The same analyses were conducted to compare the group who had the number of children they wanted with the group who did not, but only adjusted for the variables age at examination and partnership status. The CI and statistically significant *p*-value were set at 95% and <0.05, respectively. All statical analyses were conducted in SPSS version 25.

#### **Study III**

Continuous variables were analysed with Mann-Whitney U test, Pearson correlation, partial correlation, and linear regression. Correlations between variables are presented with a scatter plot. Histograms were performed to evaluate data distribution. For comparisons of more than two groups, the Kruskal-Wallis test and the Bonferroni correction were used. The Fisher's exact test and chi-squared test were applied for categorical variable analyses. The statistical analyses were two-

sided. We showed data as median, range, count, and percentage. The significance level and CI were the same as mentioned above. SPSS version 26 was used for the statistical analyses.

#### Study IV

Version 29 of SPSS was used for data analysis. Data is presented as count, percentage, median, and range. Histograms evaluated data distribution. Mann-Whitney U test and linear regression were used to analyse continuous variables. A scatter plot presents correlation, calculated with partial correlation. Categorical variables were analysed with the Fisher's exact test. For analysis of a binary variable, we performed logistic regression. Statistical analyses were conducted as two-sided. The CI and significance level were as previously mentioned.

## Alternative methods

Our methodology is quantitative research with a cross-sectional study design. The advantages of cross-sectional studies are that they are often less expensive and timeconsuming to conduct. They are carried out during a specific point in time (i.e., without prospective or retrospective follow-up), and are therefore the best approach for measuring prevalence. Furthermore, participants are not treated or exposed to interventions as they are in clinical trials, making it easier to obtain an ethical approval. However, cross-sectional studies also have limitations, such as an inability to determine incidence and causality. Moreover, they are also prone to biases, including selection bias (e.g., nonresponse bias) and information bias (e.g., recall bias) [157]. For example, in our study population, CCSs with morbidities or known reproductive issues may have been more likely to participate. On the other hand, there is also a risk of including more healthy individuals in the study population, the so-called healthy volunteer bias [158]. Hence, in both cases, the characteristics of participants and nonparticipants may differ. To reduce the risk of selection bias, we performed a drop-out analysis on offspring data for both nonparticipants and participants since ovarian function was studied, as well as compared the distribution of cancer diagnoses among CCSs with the female population of the same age diagnosed with cancer in Sweden during the period 1984–2010. In addition, there is always a risk of confounding in cross-sectional studies. To minimise this risk, we conducted matching for several factors as previously mentioned. However, controls were not matched for the use of HRT and OC, and we therefore analysed data for groups and not paired data. We also adjusted several of our analyses by using multivariable regression analysis, which is another method to control for confounding [157]. The strengths and limitations of our studies are further outlined under Discussion.

An alternative observational study design that could have been applied is a cohort study (i.e., a prospective longitudinal study). This type of study with long follow-up could evaluate the change rate of ovarian markers and thus estimate the timing of POI onset as well as the incidence. Moreover, this study design could also estimate the prognostic potential of ovarian markers in predicting fertility outcomes (i.e., pregnancies and live births) in CCSs. However, the disadvantage is certainly the time interval between childhood cancer treatment (i.e., exposure) and POI occurrence (i.e., outcome), which sometimes spans several decades and could potentially contribute to a substantial loss to follow-up [159]. In addition, this type of study would be challenging to carry out during a PhD study period.

For our *study II*, instead of using questionnaires to assess quality of life, a qualitative method could have been used. Data could have been collected through face-to-face in-depth interviews or focus group discussions. The most suitable approach to analyse data would be using content analysis, providing a narrative summary of the findings. However, downsides to this method are that they are more time-consuming than questionnaires and can also be more expensive to undertake [160].

## Results

## Study I

#### **Participants**

Using data from the Swedish Cancer Registry, we identified 575 females from the southern region of Sweden who met the inclusion criteria. Besides the previously mentioned exclusion criteria, an additional 244 subjects were excluded because of gynaecological cell atypia or cancer in situ. Two hundred and two females agreed to participate, among them, four with severe disabilities, three pregnant, and 28 who withdrew due to time constraints were excluded. The final study population consisted of 167 CCSs at a mean age of 34.3 years (19.3–57.8). Initially, 167 female controls were enrolled, however, three dropped out after clinical examination, leaving 164 controls included at a mean age of 35.0 years (19.3–58.0). Background data for CCSs and controls are presented in Table 4.

Table 4. The main characteristics for CCSs and controls.

	CCSs n=167	Controls n=164
Age at examination (years)	34.3 (19.3–57.8)	35.0 (19.3–58.0)
Age at diagnosis (years)	8.9 (0.1–17.9)	n.a.
Years since diagnosis	25.4 (11.6–41.3)	n.a.
Height (cm)	164.3 (143.0–181.5)**	168.5 (150.0–186.4)
Weight (kg)	67.7 (41.0–125.0)	66.8 (46.6–107.2)
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25.1 (16–44)**	23.5 (18–35)
Age at menarche (years)	12.8 (9–17)	13.0 (9–19)
HRT	n=20 (12%)**	n=0
OC (p-ring and systemic gestagens/progestins included)	n=48 (29%)	n=58 (34%)
POI (primary)	n=22 (13%)**	n=0
Hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian insufficiency	n=5 (3%)	n=0

Data is shown as mean, range, count, and percent. Three CCSs administered OC as HRT, and are therefore included in both groups. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; n.a.: not applicable; HRT: hormone replacement therapy; OC: oral contraceptives; POI: premature ovarian insufficiency. \*\**p*<0.01 calculated with independent sample t-test and Fisher's exact test.

We collected data from the Swedish Multi-Generation Registry, Statistics Sweden, on offspring for both participating and nonparticipating CCSs, to conduct a dropout analysis since ovarian function was studied. CCSs in our study were representative of female CCSs in Sweden, with similar distribution figures concerning number of children (0, 1, 2, or >2): 51, 14, 23, and 11% among included CCSs; 50, 26, 18, and 6% among nonrespondents; and 53, 13, 24, and 10% among those who declined, respectively. The distribution of cancer diagnoses for females <19 years of age in Sweden was derived from the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, and was comparable with childhood cancer diagnoses in our study (Table 5).

Diagnosis	CCSs n=167 (%)	Females <19 years in Sweden %
Leukaemia	51 (31)	29
Brain tumour	39 (23)	28
Lymphoma	21 (13)	9
Wilms tumour	19 (11)	6
Sarcoma	18 (11)	9
Ovarian tumour	11 (7)	5
Other	8 (5)	14

**Table 5.** The childhood cancer diagnoses for CCSs as well as for females <19 years in Sweden in the</th>period 1984–2010.

CCSs: childhood cancer survivors.

#### **Ovarian markers**

AMH and inhibin B levels were available for 166 CCSs and 163 controls. FSH was accessible for all participants, however, those on HRT or OC were excluded, with 102 CCSs and 106 controls included for analysis. E2 was also available for every participant, but those taking HRT or OC as well as those where a non-sensitive method was used for analysis (i.e., two CCSs and three controls) were excluded, resulting in 100 CCSs and 105 controls. AFC was estimated for 135 CCSs and 157 controls, and OV for 129 CCSs and 155 controls. Females were excluded from analysis of AFC and OV in the case of virginity, ovarian cysts, unilateral or bilateral ophorectomy, or non-imaging. Moreover, AFC was assessed in some subjects despite non-measurable OV due to follicular cysts.

#### Serum markers compared with ultrasound markers

We compared ovarian serum markers (i.e., AMH, inhibin B, FSH, and E2) with ultrasound markers (i.e., AFC and OV). Mean AMH levels were 2.9 and 3.1 ng/ml for CCSs and controls (p=0.486), respectively. AMH showed the strongest correlation with AFC among both CCSs and controls, with no significant difference between the groups. We also noted a significant correlation between AMH and OV, without any difference between CCSs and controls (Table 6).

	CCSs n=167 r	Controls n=164 r	Linear regression analysis comparing CCSs and controls <i>p</i>
AMH-AFC	0.667** (n=134)	0.630** (n=156)	0.136
AMH-OV	0.433** (n=128)	0.529** (n=154)	0.096
Inhibin B-AFC	0.403** (n=134)	0.364** (n=156)	0.073
Inhibin B-OV	0.523** (n=128)	0.469** (n=154)	0.333
FSH-AFC	-0.444**, <i>-0.394**</i> (n=86)	-0.393**, <i>-0.520**</i> (n=101)	0.819
FSH-OV	-0.419**, <i>-0.291**</i> (n=81)	-0.288**, <i>-0.442**</i> (n=99)	0.870
E2-AFC	-0.022 (n=84)	-0.041 (n=99)	0.206
E2-OV	0.037 (n=79)	0.015 (n=97)	0.487
AFC-OV	0.635** (n=128)	0.528** (n=153)	0.051

 Table 6. Correlations between ovarian serum markers and ultrasound markers among CCSs and controls.

Pearson and Spearman correlations as well as linear regression were used. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; r: Pearson's correlation coefficient, in italics Spearman's correlation coefficient; AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; AFC: antral follicle count; E2: 17 $\beta$ -oestradiol; FSH: follicle-stimulating hormone. \*\*p<0.01.

There was a significant difference for mean inhibin B between the groups: 37.7 and 53.2 pg/ml for CCSs and controls (p<0.01), respectively. Inhibin B correlated significantly with both AFC and OV among CCSs and controls. No differences were noted between the groups (Table 6).

FSH mean levels were 17.8 vs. 11.6 IU/L, and median levels were 7.0 vs. 6.6 IU/L among CCSs and controls (p=0.049 and p=0.47), respectively. The FSH levels correlated negatively with AFC and OV in both groups. We observed no difference among CCSs and controls (Table 6).

E2 mean levels were 185.9 pmol/L for CCSs and 169.6 pmol/L for controls (p=0.48), with no correlation observed with AFC or OV for the groups. We noted no difference when comparing the groups (Table 6).

We observed no difference in mean AFC: 12.6 for CCSs and 14.2 for controls (p=0.12). Mean OV was significantly lower for CCSs compared with controls, 7.7 and 9.4 cm<sup>3</sup> (p=0.01), respectively. There was a significant correlation between AFC and OV among both groups, with no difference noted between them (Table 6).

#### POI

We found POI in 22/167 (13%) CCSs. Of these, 15 were on HRT, with an additional five CCSs taking HRT due to hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian insufficiency. Among the 15 CCSs receiving therapy, 11 out of 12 were below the age of 40 years, three out of seven were aged between 40 and 50, and one out of three was over 50 years of age. None of the controls had primary or secondary amenorrhea <40 years or were treated with HRT.

#### ROC curve analysis for ovarian markers

ROC curve analysis was applied to test the accuracy of ovarian markers as predictors of POI and diminished ovarian reserve (i.e., AFC <10). Ovarian markers included in the analyses were AMH, inhibin B, AFC, and OV. FSH and E2 could not be assessed due to the limited number of participants included after exclusion for HRT and OC. ROC curves with area under the curve (AUC) values are presented in Figure 10 and Table 7.



**Figure 10.** Receiving Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves with area under the curve (AUC). (a) Premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) in childhood cancer survivors (CCSs); (b) antral follicle count (AFC) <10 among CCSs; (c) AFC <10 among controls. AUC values are presented in Table 7.

Table 7. AUC values for ovarian markers for POI among CCSs and for AFC <10 among both CCSs and controls.

	CCSs POIª n=167	CCSs AFC <10ª n=167	Controls AFC <10 <sup>ª</sup> n=164
AMH	0.930 (0.870–0.989)	0.866 (0.804–0.928)	0.878 (0.821–0.934)
Inhibin B	0.729 (0.516–0.941)	0.814 (0.738–0.891)	0.684 (0.595–0.774)
OV	0.815 (0.614–1.000)	0.890 (0.826–0.953)	0.765 (0.680–0.851)
AFC	0.944 (0.896–0.992)		

<sup>a</sup>AUC (95% CI). AUC: area under the curve; POI: premature ovarian insufficiency; CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; AFC: antral follicle count; AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; OV: ovarian volume; CI: confidence interval.

## Study II

#### **Participants**

The study population was the same as described in *study I*. Altogether, five CCSs had POI due to hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian insufficiency and were therefore excluded. Two controls did not answer the EQ-5D-3L questionnaire and were also excluded from the analyses. In total, 22 CCSs with POI, 140 CCSs without POI, and 162 controls were included.

Age at examination differed between the three groups: CCSs with POI, CCSs without POI, and controls (p=0.031) (Table 8). This difference was no longer observable when all CCSs were compared with controls (p=0.454). Among the three groups, we also noted a significant difference regarding BMI, FSH, and HRT (p<0.000 for all comparisons). CCSs with POI had a reduced mean number of biological children compared with CCSs without POI and controls, 0.19, 1.05, and

1.10 (p=0.005), respectively. We noted that adoption and the use of ART were more pronounced among those with POI (p<0.000). In addition, no overall difference was noted for mean E2 levels and for partnership status (Table 8).

	CCSs with POI	CCSs without	Controls n=162	<i>P</i> -value
	n=22	POI n=140		
Age at examination (years)	38.9 (22–56)	33.6 (19–58)	35.0 (19–58)	0.031
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	23.4 (17.7–34.1)	25.1 (16.2–43.8)	19.8 (14.5–29.6)	<0.000
FSH (IU/L)	41.4 (0.6–131.0)	10.5 (0.0–124.0)	9.1 (0.2–109.0)	<0.000
E2 (pmol/L)	206.0 (25–1020)	178.8 (17–1342)	162.9 (15–1232)	0.511
HRT	n=15 (68%)	0	0	<0.000
Biological children	0.19 (0–2)	1.05 (0–5)	1.10 (0–5)	0.005
Adopted children	0.18 (0–1)	0 (0–0)	0.01 (0–1)	<0.000
ART	n=8 (36%)	n=9 (6%)	n=12 (7%)	<0.000
Married/domestic partnership	n=13 (59%)	n=80 (57%)	n=104 (64%)	0.450

Table 8.	Clinical	parameters	for	CCSs with	and without	POI and	controls.
----------	----------	------------	-----	-----------	-------------	---------	-----------

Data is presented as count, mean, range, and percent. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; POI: premature ovarian insufficiency; BMI: body mass index; FSH: follicle-stimulating hormone; E2:  $17\beta$ -oestradiol; HRT: hormone replacement therapy; ART: assisted reproductive technology. *P*-value comparing the three groups, analysed with the univariate analysis of variance or chi-squared test.

When comparing CCSs with and without POI, those with POI were more often treated with radiotherapy, especially abdominal radiotherapy, total body irradiation (TBI), chemotherapy, particularly with alkylating agents, and HSCT (Table 9). None of the CCSs with POI were treated with surgery only.

Type of treatment	CCSs with POI n=22 (%)	CCSs without POI n=140 (%)
All radiotherapy	17 (77)	65 (46)
Cranial radiotherapy	7 (23)	41 (29)
Abdominal radiotherapy	16 (73)	17 (12)
Cranial and abdominal radiotherapy	7 (32)	9 (6)
ТВІ	5 (23)	2 (1)
All chemotherapy	20 (91)	104 (74)
Alkylating agents	14 (64)	65 (46)
HSCT	7 (23)	4 (3)
Only surgery	0	19 (14)

Table 9. Treatments for CCSs with/without POI.

Five CCSs with hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian insufficiency were excluded. Data is shown as count and percent. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; POI: premature ovarian insufficiency; TBI: total body irradiation; HSCT: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

#### **TTO values**

In total, 22 CCSs with POI, 138 CCSs without POI, and 159 controls were included for analyses of health state, described as mean TTO values. Participants with missing data were excluded. TTO values differed significantly across the three groups: 0.8892, 0.8913, and 0.9230 among CCSs with POI, CCSs without POI, and controls (unadjusted p=0.010, adjusted p=0.027), respectively (Table 10). When a post hoc test was performed for the unadjusted analysis, there was only a significant difference in mean TTO values between CCSs without POI and controls. All CCSs compared with controls had significantly lower mean TTO values: 0.8910 vs. 0.9230 (unadjusted p=0.002, adjusted p=0.007), respectively. We adjusted for the following factors: age at examination, having a child (yes or no), current desire for a child, desire for future children, and partnership status (i.e., marital status/domestic partnership). **Table 10.** Health state presented as mean TTO values and well-being as mean EQ-VAS for CCSs with POI, CCSs without POI, and controls.

	CCSs with POI n=22	CCSs without POI n=138 <sup>a</sup> /140 <sup>b</sup>	Controls n=159ª/161 <sup>b</sup>	Unadjusted overall <i>p</i> - value (with post hoc test)	Adjusted overall <i>p</i> - value
TTO value	0.8892	0.8913	0.9230	0.010	0.027
EQ-VAS	74.5	79.0	83.4	0.037 <sup>c</sup> , 0.024 <sup>d</sup>	0.017

<sup>a</sup>n in TTO analysis, <sup>b</sup>n in EQ-VAS analysis, <sup>c</sup>CCSs without POI compared with controls, <sup>d</sup>CCSs with POI compared with controls. TTO: time trade-off; VAS: visual analogue scale; CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; POI: premature ovarian insufficiency. Overall *p*-value analysed with the univariate analysis of variance.

#### **EQ-VAS**

For well-being presented as mean EQ-VAS, we included 22 CCSs with POI, 140 CCSs without POI, and 161 controls. Participants with missing data were not included. An overall difference between the three groups was observed (adjusted p=0.017) (Table 10). The entire group of CCSs had significantly reduced mean EQ-VAS compared with controls, 78.4 and 83.4 (unadjusted p=0.003, adjusted p=0.012), respectively. Mean EQ-VAS was 74.5 among CCSs with POI compared with 83.4 among controls (unadjusted p=0.024). CCSs without POI also had significantly lower mean EQ-VAS compared with controls, 79.0 and 83.4 (unadjusted p=0.037), respectively (Table 10). We adjusted for the same variables as mentioned under *TTO values*.

#### TTO values and EQ-VAS for current desire for a child

For these analyses, CCSs and controls were combined and thereafter divided into two groups, i.e., one group having the number of children they desired and one group not having their wishes fulfilled regarding number of children. The latter group had answered yes to one of the following: planning biological children in the future, unable to have biological children (i.e., due to ovarian insufficiency or uterine incapacity for pregnancy), partner unable to have children, partner not interested in having children, attempting pregnancy for less or more than two years, or I consider myself too old or I am too old (if not, I would wish for a child). For 39 participants, the desire to have children has never been a consideration and they were therefore excluded from the analyses. The group with the number of children they wanted consisted of 118 females, and the other group consisted of 167 females. The mean TTO values and EQ-VAS did not differ among the group with the number of children they wanted and the group that did not have the number of children they wanted: 0.91 vs. 0.91 (unadjusted p=0.524, adjusted p=0.551) and 81.1 vs. 80.7 (unadjusted p=0.705, adjusted p=0.227), respectively. We adjusted for age at examination and partnership status.

## Study III

#### **Participants**

The included study population was the same as described in previous studies, i.e., 167 CCSs and 164 controls. In this study, CCSs were divided into infertility risk groups according to the PanCareLIFE and Swedish guidelines, based on cancer treatments given (Tables 2 and 3, respectively). Cancer treatments given for all CCSs are presented in Table 11. Among the 167 CCSs, eight were excluded from the Swedish infertility risk grouping (i.e., six and two due to inconclusive data and bilateral oophorectomy, respectively). For the PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups, two CCSs were excluded because of bilateral oophorectomy, leaving 165 CCSs. As AMH levels decline with advanced age, we also performed analyses for females aged <40 years, including 120 CCSs and 113 controls for the PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups. For the Swedish infertility risk groups aged <40 years, two CCSs were excluded as ovarian radiotherapy doses could not be determined.

Treatment	All CCSs n=167 n (%)
Chemotherapy	127 (76)
Alkylating agents	81 (49)
Radiotherapy	87 (52)
Radiotherapy, abdominal and cranial	16 (10)
Radiotherapy, abdominal	34 (20)
Radiotherapy, cranial	53 (32)
ТВІ	7 (4)
HSCT	11 (7)
Surgery only	19 (11)

Table 11. Cancer treatments for all CCSs.

CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; TBI: total body irradiation; HSCT: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation.

#### AMH, AFC, and OV

In this study, only AMH is presented as an ovarian serum marker, as it was the most accurate serum marker for evaluating ovarian reserve in CCSs according to *study I*. We also included AFC and OV as ovarian markers for this study. The number of included participants for each of the ovarian reserve markers has previously been reported in *study I*.

Median AMH and AFC levels did not differ between CCSs and controls: 1.9 vs. 2.1 ng/ml and 12.0 vs. 13.0 (p=0.065 and p=0.096), respectively. However, median OV levels were significantly reduced in CCSs 6.8 cm<sup>3</sup> compared with controls 8.0 cm<sup>3</sup> (p=0.021). Adjustments for the use of HRT and OC were not performed in our analyses, and median AMH levels were therefore compared among CCSs (n=65) and controls (n=57) on HRT or OC: 1.8 and 2.4 ng/ml (p=0.077), respectively.

For females <40 years, we noted no difference regarding median AMH levels among CCSs (n=120) and controls (n=112), 3.3 and 3.2 ng/ml (p=0.108), respectively. Both median AFC and OV were significantly lower among CCSs compared with controls: 13.0 (n=102) vs. 15.0 (n=109) and 7.6 (n=98) vs. 9.1 cm<sup>3</sup> (n=108) (p=0.026 and p=0.009), respectively.

There was a significant negative correlation between AMH and age at examination for both CCSs (r=-0.435, p<0.001, n=166) and controls (r=-0.497, p<0.001, n=163). Linear regression analysis showed that CCSs had somewhat reduced levels of AMH at all ages compared with controls. However, the difference was neither significant (p=0.224) nor more prominent with advancing age (Figure 11).



**Figure 11.** Scatter plot illustrating the negative correlation between AMH levels and age at examination among both CCSs ( $\bullet$ +filled line, r=-0.435, *p*<0.001, n=166) and controls ( $\circ$ +dashed line, r=-0.497, *p*<0.001, n=163). AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; CCSs: childhood cancer survivors.

#### Swedish infertility risk groups, <40 years

CCSs were allocated to seven different groups based on treatments. In addition to the four infertility risk groups outlined in the Swedish guidelines (Table 3), we added three more groups for the CCSs who were outside the treatment scope: no risk (i.e., received none of the therapies in Table 3), surgery only, and unilateral oophorectomy. Altogether, 118 CCSs and 113 controls <40 years of age were included for the analyses (i.e., two CCSs with inconclusive ovarian radiotherapy doses were excluded). We distributed 12 CCSs to the no risk group, 26 to the low-risk group, 24 to the moderate-risk group, 28 to the high-risk group, 10 to the very high-risk group, 11 to the only surgery group, and seven to the unilateral oophorectomy group (Table 12).

There was an overall difference for both age at examination and age at diagnosis between the groups (p=0.049 and p=0.007, respectively), but no differences were observed with pairwise comparisons. Furthermore, AMH and AFC varied significantly among the groups (p<0.001 for both analyses) (Table 12). Pairwise comparisons showed significantly reduced median AMH levels for the very high-risk group 0.0 ng/ml and the high-risk group 1.1 ng/ml, compared with controls 3.2 ng/ml (p<0.001 and p=0.034, respectively) (Figure 12a). Median AFC was also significantly lower in the very high-risk group and the high-risk group compared with controls: 3.0 and 9.0 vs. 15.0 (p=0.003 and p<0.001), respectively (Figure 12b). OV did not differ between the groups (p=0.054) (Table 12 and Figure 12c).

We performed linear regression analysis for AMH to adjust for age at examination, with the very high-risk group and the high-risk group having 3.5 and 1.7 ng/ml decreased levels of AMH compared with the controls (p=0.001, 95% CI -5.6 – 1.4 and p=0.012, 95% CI -3.0 – 0.4, adjusted for age at examination), respectively. The unadjusted analysis demonstrated comparable results (not presented).

high- risk         surgery surgery         ophorectomy centrols         CCSs value         All vs.         P-           10         11         7         120         113         n.a.         n.a.           30.3         26.4         38.3         30.6         30.8         9.7         controls           21.8         22.2-         25.0-39.4         19.3         10.3         n.a.         n.a.           9.7         6.7         12.5         (19.3-         (19.3-         0.599         0.049           9.7         6.1         12.5         39.8)         39.9)         0.39.8)         0.049           9.7         6.1         12.5         0.1         0.0         0.0         0.049           17.2)         15.1         0.1         0.6         0.0         0.049           17.2)         15.1         0.16.4         0.0         0.0         0.049           0.0         3.7         0.16.4         0.0         0.0         0.049           17.2)         15.1         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0           0.0         0.1         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0         0.0           0.0         0.	0) and controls (n=113 Moderate- High-
3 $10$ $11$ $7$ $120$ $113$ $n.a.$ $n.a.$ $3.7$ $30.3$ $26.4$ $38.3$ $30.6$ $30.8$ $0.599$ $0.049$ $9.3$ - $(21.8 - (22.2 - (25.0 - 39.4))$ $(19.3 - (10.7 - (10.1 - (1.1 - (10.1 - ($	risk
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	24
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	25.3 (19.5– 38.6)
1         0.0         3.7         0.1         3.3         3.2         0.108         <0.001           2)         4.9)         9.4)         (0.0-16.4)         (0.0-	3.4 (0.1–17.0)
0         3.0         21.0         n.a.         13.0         15.0         0.26         <0.01           -23)         (0-16)         (10-26)         (0.47)         (5-40) </td <td>4.0 (0.2–16.6)</td>	4.0 (0.2–16.6)
0 5.5 10.6 n.a. 7.6 9.1 <b>0.009</b> 0.054 .7- (0.5- (3.2- (0.25- (1.6- ).5) 21.0) 15.5) 21.4) 36.7)	19.0 (3–38)
	8.1 (2.2–20.2)

	21.4/	10.02	1.012	(0.01	<pre>&gt;</pre>	(1.00	
CCSs were divided into Sv	wedish infertility risk groups ba	ased on can	cer treatmer	its outlined in Table 3.	Risk grouping wa	as unavailable	for two CCSs. I
shown as count, median, a	and range. CCSs: childhood c	cancer surviv	vors; AMH: a	anti-Müllerian hormone	; AFC: antral foll	icle count; OV:	ovarian volume
not applicable. P-value for	all CCSs vs. controls analyse	ed with Manr	<b>N-Whitney U</b>	test. Overall p-value ar	nalysed with Kru	skal-Wallis test	

<40 years.
Ś
÷
(n=1
S
2
Ę
8
σ
ЦШ Ш
÷
ล
5
Ë,
Š
õ
Я
2
. <u> </u>
5
ž
a
Ε
an
j,
ž
0
ц,
Σ
ŝ



Figure 12. Pairwise comparisons presented for the Swedish infertility risk groups (12a-c) and the PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups (12d-f) in comparison infertility risk groups because of inconclusive ovarian radiotherapy doses. Outliers are not visualised. AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; AFC: antral follicle with controls for AMH, AFC, and OV. 120 CCSs and 113 controls below 40 years of age were included. Two CCSs were excluded from the Swedish count; OV: ovarian volume; CCSs: childhood cancer survivors. The Kruskal-Wallis test and the Bonferroni correction were applied.

#### PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups, <40 years

In total, 120 CCSs and 113 controls below 40 years of age were included in the PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups based on Table 2. The cancer treatments for group 4 are considered the most gonadotoxic (i.e., CED  $\geq$ 6 g/m<sup>2</sup>, ovarian radiotherapy irrespective of dose, or HSCT). Group 3 underwent treatments including CED <6 g/m<sup>2</sup> or cranial radiotherapy. Those who were treated with unilateral oophorectomy were categorised into group 2, regardless of other cancer treatments. All other CCSs with treatment not consistent with those of groups 2–4 were assigned to group 1. We categorised 40 CCSs to group 1, seven to group 2, 38 to group 3, and 35 to group 4 (Table 13).

There was an overall difference in age at examination between the groups (p=0.005). Pairwise comparisons showed that age at examination was significantly lower in group 1 25.7 years compared with controls 30.8 years (p=0.048). Age at diagnosis also differed across the groups (p=0.010), however, no differences were observed with pairwise comparisons (Table 13).

AMH, AFC, and OV differed significantly between the groups (p<0.001, p<0.001, and p=0.002, respectively) (Table 13). Median AMH levels and AFC were significantly lower for group 4 in comparison with controls: 0.5 vs. 3.2 ng/ml and 7.0 vs. 15.0 (p=0.004 and p<0.001, respectively) (Figures 12d and e). In addition, OV was significantly decreased in group 3 6.1 cm<sup>3</sup>, and in group 4 6.0 cm<sup>3</sup> compared with controls 9.1 cm<sup>3</sup> (p=0.043 and p=0.033, respectively) (Figure 12f).

Overall <i>p</i> -value	n.a.	0.005	0.010	<0.001	<0.001	0.002
p-value All CCSs vs. controls <40 years	n.a.	0.599	n.a.	0.108	0.026	0.00
Controls <40 years	113	30.8 (19.3–39.9)	n.a.	3.2 (0.0–16.1)	15.0 (5–40)	9.1 (1.6–36.7)
All CCSs <40 years	120	30.6 (19.3–39.8)	6.4 (0.1–17.2)	3.3 (0.0–23.5)	13.0 (0-47)	7.6 (0.25–21.4)
4	35	30.7 (19.3–39.8)	7.9 (0.4–17.2)	0.5 (0.0–9.4)	7.0 (0–27)	6.0 (0.5–21.0)
ę	38	33.3 (19.9–39.4)	7.2 (0.3–17.2)	2.9 (0.0–11.7)	11.0 (3–38)	6.1 (1.5–20.8)
7	7	38.3 (25.0–39.4)	12.5 (4.6–15.0)	0.1 (0.0–16.4)	n.a.	n.a.
-	40	25.7 (19.6–38.3)	4.9 (0.1–15.1)	4.0 (0.1–23.5)	20.0 (4–47)	10.1 (1.7–21.4)
Group	z	Age at examination (years)	Age at diagnosis (years)	AMH (ng/ml)	AFC	OV (cm <sup>3</sup> )

Table 13. Ovarian markers in CCSs (n=120) and controls (n=113), <40 years.

CCSs were divided into PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups based on cancer treatments outlined in Table 2. Data is shown as count, median, and range. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; AFC: antral follicle count; OV: ovarian volume; n.a.: not applicable. *P*-value for all CCSs vs. controls analysed with Mann-Whitney U test. Overall *p*-value analysed with Kruskal-Wallis test.

#### Fertility outcomes for all ages

When comparing all CCSs with controls, we noted a tendency of decreased fertility in terms of conceiving as well as the number of children born. We also noted that fertility investigations and treatments were more often utilised by CCSs than by controls. Fertility treatments included IVF in eight CCSs and eight controls, ovarian stimulation in seven CCSs and four controls, and egg donation in six CCSs. Among CCSs who underwent fertility treatment, 11/18 (61%) successfully gave birth. In addition, the median age for the first childbirth was significantly lower among CCSs (n=72) compared with controls (n=87), 26.5 and 29.0 years (p=0.013), respectively. Despite the trend towards fertility impairment, no significant association was noted regarding future desire for a child between all CCSs and controls (p=0.883).

We observed an overall significant difference concerning number of pregnancies and number of children born for the Swedish infertility risk groups (p=0.005 and p=0.006, respectively). However, no differences were observed with pairwise comparisons. Only 23% of the females in the very high-risk group were able to conceive, in comparison with 59% of controls. Regarding the number of females who had given birth, we noted that 15% and 54% of the females in the very highrisk group and controls had given birth, respectively. Furthermore, utilisation of fertility investigation and treatment were more pronounced among those in the very high-risk group and in the unilateral oophorectomy group (Table 14).

For the PanCareLIFE infertility risk groups, no significant differences were observed regarding either the number of pregnancies or the number of children born between the groups (p=0.071 and p=0.279, respectively). Nevertheless, a trend towards reduced median number of pregnancies was apparent for groups 3 and 4 vs. controls: 0 vs. 1, respectively. The median number of children born was also lower among groups 1, 3, and 4 compared with controls. Moreover, females in groups 2 and 4 underwent fertility investigation and treatment more often than the controls (Table 15).

	No risk	Low- risk	Moderate- risk	High- risk	Very high- risk	Only surgery	Unilateral oophorectomy	AII CCSs	Controls	<i>p</i> -value All CCSs vs. controls	Overall P- value
z	17	31	29	37	13	19	13	167	164	n.a.	n.a.
Age at examination (years)	32.9 (19.6– 49.8)	31.8 (19.8– 48.0)	28.8 (19.5– 47.9)	36.6 (19.3– 57.8)	30.8 (21.8– 51.4)	38.1 (22.2– 49.9)	39.4 (25.0–54.3)	34.6 (19.3– 57.8)	35.8 (19.3– 58.0)	0.385	0.015
Age at diagnosis (years)	11.1 (1.3– 17.9)	5.0 (0.6– 16.0)	6.1 (0.1–17.2)	7.9 (0.4– 17.6)	12.3 (1.8– 17.9)	8.8 (0.1– 17.2)	12.6 (4.6–17.0)	8.4 (0.1– 17.9)	n.a.	n.a.	0.003
POI, n	0	1 (3%)	0	5 (14%)	9 (69%)	0	4 (31%)	22 (13%)	0	<0.001	n.a.
Females pregnant, n	6 (35%)	13 (42%)	11 (38%)	22 (59%)	3 (23%)	14 (74%)	6 (69%)	84 (50%)	97 (59%)	0.122	0.010
Pregnancies, total n	10	37	34	49	5	43	32	224	263	n.a.	n.a.
Pregnancies/female, n	0 (0–3)	0 (0–6)	0 (0–6)	1 (0– 5)	0 (0–3)	2 (0- 11)	2 (0–7)	1 (0– 11)	1 (0–7)	0.066	0.005
Females given birth, n	5 (29%)	11 (35%)	9 (31%)	21 (57%)	2 (15%)	13 (68%)	7 (54%)	74 (44%)	88 (54%)	0.100	0.006
Children born, total n	œ	23	18	40	с	29	19	152	180	n.a.	n.a.
Children born/female, n	0 (0–3)	0 (0–3)	0 (04)	1 (0- 4)	0 (0–2)	1 (0–5)	2 (0–4)	0 (0–5)	1 (0–5)	0.117	0.006
Children born/pregnancies	80%	62%	53%	82%	%09	67%	59%	68%	68%	n.a.	n.a.
Fertility investigation, n	3 (18%)	0	2 (7%)	5 (14%)	4 (31%)	4 (21%)	3 (23%)	25 (15%)	15 (9%)	0.129	n.a.
Fertility treatment, n	1 (6%)	0	2 (7%)	3 (8%)	2 (15%)	3 (16%)	3 (23%)	18 (11%)	12 (7%)	0.339	n.a.
Adoption	0	0	0	0	2 (15%)	0	1 (8%)	4 (2%)	1 (1%)	0.372	n.a.

Table 14. Fertility outcomes among CCSs (n=167) and controls (n=164) based on the Swedish infertility risk grouping (see Table 3).

Eight CCSs were excluded from risk grouping, six due to inconclusive data and two who underwent bilateral oophorectomy. Data is shown as count, median, range, and percentage. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; POI: premature ovarian insufficiency; n.a.: not applicable. *P*-value among all CCSs vs. controls analysed with Mann-Whitney U test and Fisher's exact test. Overall *p*-value analysed with Kruskal-Wallis test and chi-squared test.

Group	<del></del>	5	e	4	All CCSs	Controls	<i>p</i> -value All CCSs vs. controls	Overall <i>p</i> -value
z	54	13	48	50	167	164	n.a.	n.a.
Age at examination (years)	30.6 (19.6–49.9)	39.4 (25.0–54.3)	35.1 (19.9–49.8)	37.2 (19.3–57.8)	34.6 (19.3–57.8)	35.8 (19.3–58.0)	0.385	0.053
Age at diagnosis (years)	6.2 (0.1–17.9)	12.6 (4.6–17.0)	7.7 (0.3–17.3)	8.5 (0.4–17.9)	8.4 (0.1–17.9)	n.a.	n.a.	0.011
POI, n	1 (2%)	4 (31%)	0	15 (30%)	22 (13%)	0	<0.001	<0.001
Females pregnant, n	28 (52%)	6 (69%)	22 (46%)	24 (48%)	84 (50%)	97 (59%)	0.122	0.285
Pregnancies, total n	81	32	54	56	224	263	n.a.	n.a.
Pregnancies/female, n	1 (0–11)	2 (0–7)	0 (0–6)	0 (0–5)	1 (0–11)	1 (0–7)	0.066	0.071
Females given birth, n	25 (46%)	7 (54%)	19 (40%)	22 (44%)	74 (44%)	88 (54%)	0.100	0.419
Children born, total n	53	19	35	44	152	180	n.a.	n.a.
Children born/female, n	0 (0–5)	2 (0–4)	0 (04)	0 (04)	0 (0–5)	1 (0-5)	0.117	0.279
Children born/pregnancies	65%	59%	65%	79%	68%	68%	n.a.	n.a.
Fertility investigation, n	4 (7%)	3 (23%)	6 (13%)	10 (20%)	25 (15%)	15 (9%)	0.129	n.a.
Fertility treatment, n	3 (6%)	3 (23%)	3 (6%)	7 (14%)	18 (11%)	12 (7%)	0.339	n.a.
Adoption	0	1 (8%)	0	2 (4%)	4 (2%)	1 (1%)	0.372	n.a.
Two CCSs who underwent bil survivors; POI: premature ovari exact test. Overall <i>p</i> -value analy	lateral oophorect ian insufficiency; ysed with Kruska	omy were exclu n.a.: not applical I-Wallis test and	ded. Data is sh ble. <i>P</i> -value am chi-squared tes	nown as count, nong all CCSs vs .t.	median, range s. controls analy	, and percentag ysed with Mann	le. CCSs: childh Whitney U test a	ood cancer Ind Fisher's

Table 15. Fertility outcomes among CCSs (n=167) and controls (n=164) based on the PanCareLIFE infertility risk grouping (see Table 2).

#### POI

As previously reported, the prevalence of POI was 13% among CCSs. POI prevalence was notably higher for CCSs in the very high-risk group (69%), the high-risk group (14%), and the unilateral oophorectomy group (31%) according to the Swedish infertility risk assessment (Table 14). We also noted that POI was considerably more prominent in PanCareLIFE group 4 (30%) and group 2 (31%) (Table 15). None of the controls were diagnosed with POI.

### Study IV

#### **Participants**

As previously reported, we included 167 CCSs and 164 controls at median ages of 34.6 (19.3–57.8) and 35.8 (19.3–58.0) years, respectively. The median age at diagnosis among CCSs was 8.4 years (0.1–17.9), with a median time since diagnosis of 25.4 years (11.6–41.3). Based on the median age at diagnosis, CCSs were divided into two groups:  $\leq$ 8.4 and >8.4 years of age when diagnosed. We noticed for those aged >8.4 years at diagnosis that cancer diagnoses including brain tumour, lymphoma, sarcoma, and ovarian tumour were more pronounced. Among those aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed, leukaemia, Wilms tumour, and other diagnoses were observed more frequently (Table 16).

Age at diagnosis	≤8.4 years n=83 (%)	>8.4 years n=84 (%)	All CCSs n=167 (%)
Diagnoses			
Leukaemia	35 (42)	16 (19)	51 (31)
Brain tumour	15 (18)	24 (29)	39 (23)
Lymphoma	2 (2)	19 (23)	21 (13)
Sarcoma	7 (8)	11 (13)	18 (11)
Wilms tumour	17 (20)	2 (2)	19 (11)
Ovarian tumour	0	11 (13)	11 (7)
Other	7 (8)	1 (1)	8 (5)

Table 16	. CCSs v	vith various	diagnoses	and further	arouped b	v age at	diagnosis.
10010 10		inter varioao	alagnoooo		groupou o	, ago ac	alagnoolo.

CCSs: childhood cancer survivors.
When comparing treatments, the use of alkylating agents was significantly higher among those who were older when diagnosed (58%) compared with those who were younger at diagnosis (39%) (p=0.013). Moreover, with the cut-off for CED of  $\geq$ 6000 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, no significant difference was observed between the two groups (p=0.417) (Table 17). However, those >8.4 years of age at diagnosis were treated with higher median CED in comparison with those aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed, 613 (0–31210) mg/m<sup>2</sup> and 0 (0–23300) mg/m<sup>2</sup> (p<0.001), respectively. We observed no differences between the groups in terms of abdominal radiotherapy, cranial radiotherapy, TBI, or HSCT (Table 17).

Age at diagnosis	≤8.4 years n=83 (%)	>8.4 years n=84 (%)	All CCSs n=167 (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Treatments				
Chemotherapy	67 (81)	60 (71)	127 (76)	0.204
Alkylating agents	32 (39)	49 (58)	81 (49)	0.013
CED ≥6000 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	11 (13)	21 (25)	32 (19)	0.417
Radiotherapy, abdominal	17 (20)	17 (20)	34 (20)	1.000
Radiotherapy, cranial	32 (39)	21 (25)	53 (32)	0.069
ТВІ	3 (4)	4 (5)	7 (4)	1.000
HSCT	4 (5)	7 (8)	11 (7)	0.535
Surgery only	8 (10)	11 (13)	19 (11)	0.627

Table 17. CCSs with various treatments and further grouped by age at diagnosis.

CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; CED: Cyclophosphamide Equivalent Dose; TBI: total body irradiation; HSCT: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *P*-value  $\leq$ 8.4 years vs. >8.4 years at diagnosis, analysed with Fisher's exact test.

#### **Ovarian markers**

CCSs aged >8.4 years at diagnosis were significantly older when examined, with a median age of 38.3 years (21.3–57.8), compared with those aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed who were 29.9 years (19.3–46.9) at examination (*p*<0.001) (Table 18). Median follow-up time did not differ among the groups, 26.3 years (12.3–41.3) for CCSs aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed and 24.7 years (11.6–40.7) for those aged >8.4 years at diagnosis (*p*=0.081).

For those aged >8.4 years at diagnosis, median AMH levels were significantly reduced when comparing with those aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed: 0.3 and 3.7 ng/ml (*p*<0.001), respectively (Table 18). Linear regression analysis with adjustment for age at examination showed that those aged >8.4 years at diagnosis continued to have reduced AMH levels by 1.3 ng/ml in comparison with CCSs aged

 $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed (*p*=0.017, 95% CI -2.3 – -0.2). In addition, median AFC was significantly lower in CCSs who were older when diagnosed 8.0 compared with those who were younger at diagnosis 14.5 (*p*<0.001) (Table 18). Nevertheless, this difference was no longer apparent when adjusting for age at examination (*p*=0.165, 95% CI -5.0 – 0.9). Furthermore, median OV did not differ among the groups (*p*=0.416) (Table 18).

Age at diagnosis	≤8.4 years	>8.4 years	<i>p</i> -value
Ν	83	84	n.a.
Age at examination (years)	29.9 (19.3–46.9)	38.3 (21.3–57.8)	<0.001
Time since diagnosis (years)	26.3 (12.3–41.3)	24.7 (11.6–40.7)	0.081
AMH (ng/ml)	3.7 (0.0–23.5) (n=82)	0.3 (0.0–16.6) (n=84)	<0.001
AFC	14.5 (0–47) (n=74)	8.0 (0–38) (n=61)	<0.001
OV (cm <sup>3</sup> )	7.1 (0.7–21.4) (n=72)	6.8 (0.3–21.0) (n=57)	0.416

Table 18. Ovarian markers among CCSs according to age when diagnosed.

Data is shown as count, median, and range. CCSs: childhood cancer survivors; AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; AFC: antral follicle count; OV: ovarian volume. *P*-value analysed with Mann-Whitney U test.

We noticed that ovarian tumour as a diagnosis was restricted to the group >8.4 years at diagnosis. Additional analysis was therefore performed with exclusion of this diagnosis, demonstrating that those who were older at diagnosis still had significantly lower median AMH levels compared with those who were younger at diagnosis: 0.4 (0.0–16.6, n=73) vs. 3.7 (0.0–23.5, n=82) ng/ml, respectively (p<0.001). Furthermore, those who were older at diagnosis also presented with a 3.5-fold increased risk of unmeasurable AMH (i.e., <0.023 ng/ml) compared with those who were younger when diagnosed (p=0.024, 95% CI 1.2 – 10.4, adjusted for age at examination). In addition, there was a negative correlation between AMH levels and age at diagnosis (r=-0.234, p=0.002, adjusted for age at examination, n=166) (Figure 13). Moreover, those who were younger at diagnosis presented with longer follow-up time, i.e., time since diagnosis correlated negatively with age at diagnosis (r=-1.000, p<0.001, adjusted for age at examination, n=167).



**Figure 13.** Correlation between AMH levels and age at diagnosis among CCSs. Scatter plot illustrating the negative correlation between AMH levels and age at diagnosis (r=-0.234, p=0.002, n=166, adjusted for age at examination). AMH: anti-Müllerian hormone; CCSs: childhood cancer survivors.

#### POI

Among 22 CCSs with POI, 15 presented with secondary amenorrhoea at 15–39 years of age and six with primary amenorrhoea. All CCSs with POI had either very low or undetectable AMH (i.e., <0.1 or <0.023 ng/ml, respectively), except for one CCS with an AMH level of 0.403 ng/ml along with primary amenorrhoea and ongoing use of HRT. For those with POI, the median age at examination was 39.4 years (21.8–55.5), with a median age at diagnosis of 11.7 years (0.4–17.9) and median time since diagnosis of 30.1 years (12.1–39.4). Cancer diagnoses identified in the POI group were leukaemia (n=8), ovarian tumour (n=5), lymphoma (n=5), Wilms tumour (n=2), brain tumour (n=1), and sarcoma (n=1). When dividing up CCSs according to age when diagnosed, those who were older at diagnosis had higher POI prevalence (19%) compared with those who were younger at diagnosis (7%) (p=0.038).

## Discussion

Major improvements in childhood cancer survival and therapeutic strategies over time have resulted in a growing population of survivors, with many years left to live [3-5, 19, 20]. Concerns about the late complications of childhood cancer treatment have led to a greater focus on survivorship research, a field that is central to our work. In our studies, we have evaluated the detrimental effects of cancer treatment on ovarian function, quality of life, and fertility among adult female CCSs.

The findings of our first study indicated that serum markers including AMH, inhibin B, and FSH correlated well with the ultrasound markers AFC and OV among both CCSs and controls. As far as we know, this study was the first to evaluate the correlation between these markers in an adult population of CCSs. Furthermore, E2 correlated to neither AFC nor OV within the groups. Among ovarian serum markers, we found AMH to be the strongest predictor for detecting primary POI among CCSs and for diminished ovarian reserve (i.e., AFC <10) in both CCSs and controls. FSH and E2 were not included in the analyses due to the limited sample size after exclusion for the use of HRT or OC.

AFC, which is considered to be the gold standard method for evaluation of the ovarian reserve, also showed high accuracy in predicting primary POI [64]. However, this method, with its use of transvaginal ultrasound, is not suitable for screening in young females due to virginity or the discomfort it may cause. In comparison to other ovarian serum markers, AMH is not part of the negative feedback system, and thus has the advantage of being assessable at any time during the menstrual cycle [67, 68].

POI was identified in 13% (22/167) of CCSs in our study, compared with a previously reported prevalence of 8–11% [93, 96]. However, our CCSs were somewhat older when examined with longer follow-up time, which could account for the higher prevalence observed. Currently, HRT is advised up to the age of 50–51 years, when menopause naturally occurs [58, 83]. However, 14/19 of our CCSs  $\leq$ 50 years of age had ongoing HRT use, which calls for improvements in offering treatment to reduce the morbidities associated with oestrogen deficiency.

All CCSs treated with alkylating agents and/or ovarian radiotherapy should be offered counselling and information about the risk of POI, as stated in the current recommendations. For POI screening among CCSs, AMH as a primary test is not suggested for those at risk. Evaluation of FSH and E2 levels is recommended in the

case of delayed puberty, disturbances in puberty progression, or if menstrual cycle irregularities arise. However, it is outlined that AMH might be used as an additional test for those aged  $\geq$ 25 years presenting with menstrual cycle disturbances, or upon request for future fertility assessment [85]. We found limited support to recommend E2 testing for POI surveillance. In addition, previous studies have reported that FSH rise is a late indicator of diminished ovarian reserve, with AMH decline preceding the rise [74, 75]. George et al. found that almost 20% of CCSs had normal FSH but low AMH, indicating that diminished ovarian reserve would not have been detected in a substantial proportion of survivors with current surveillance recommendations [125]. Another study reported low AMH in 30% of CCSs with regular cycles [124]. Therefore, POI surveillance with observation of menstrual disturbances and testing with FSH and E2 is not optimal for detecting decreased ovarian reserve and impending POI. Our study suggests AMH as the most valuable serum marker for POI screening.

The psychological burden of POI includes lower quality of life, anxiety, and depression [90, 95]. Among somatic complications, impaired fertility has been reported as a major concern, with a negative impact on well-being and intimate relationships [95, 98]. Our second study investigated health state and well-being for all CCSs and for those CCSs with POI compared with controls. We found that both health state and well-being were significantly reduced for all CCSs in comparison with controls. When comparing only CCSs with POI with controls, no difference was found regarding health state, which could be due to the limited number included in the POI group. However, CCSs with POI demonstrated the lowest well-being compared with controls. To ensure that the controls in our study were representative of the general population, we compared EQ-VAS figures with those from a large Swedish study (n=30,431), which presented comparable scores [161]. Our findings in the present study align with those of previous studies [95, 98]. However, conflicting results also exist with an American study reporting better well-being among long-term cancer survivors compared with the nationally representative cohort [162]. Another study found no difference in quality of life measured by EQ-5D-3L questionnaire among breast cancer survivors five years after surgery when comparing with age-matched controls. However, for the dimensions of pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression, breast cancer survivors reported poorer outcomes than controls [163]. These somewhat unexpected findings might reflect long-term cancer survivors valuing their health more than those who have never been diagnosed with cancer. Even though we observed a significant difference in health state between CCSs as one group and the controls, the actual figures did not differ much. One could therefore argue that CCSs have a good quality of life in general, but that it is still lower than in females without a history of childhood cancer. It should be emphasised, however, that CCSs with POI still score notably worse on well-being, which reflects the current status in contrast to the health state rather revealing quality of life based on prior events. Importantly, CCSs with POI

should be identified promptly to ensure they receive appropriate support and treatment.

We observed that CCSs with POI had a lower number of biological children, which was anticipated given their low chance of conceiving spontaneously [87]. Our hypothesis that females who did not have the desired number of children would score worse on health state and well-being than those who did have their wishes fulfilled was rejected. This was unexpected, given the fact that childlessness is associated with emotional distress [147, 164, 165]. However, the group without the desired number of children included those who were planning to have children and those who had been trying to conceive for less than two years. In other words, this group did not only consist of infertile females, which might explain the finding. It could also reflect acceptance within this group of not being able to have children of their own. CCSs with POI utilised ART more often than those without POI and controls. This is a positive aspect, as it shows that they are recognised by healthcare professionals and offered treatment.

To further examine ovarian markers and fertility outcomes, we classified CCSs into infertility risk groups based on the Swedish and PanCareLIFE guidelines in our third study [129, 130]. For the Swedish infertility risk groups of females below 40 years, we found that both AMH and AFC were significantly reduced in the very high-risk group and the high-risk group in comparison with controls. Similarly, AMH and AFC were significantly lower when comparing PanCareLIFE group 4 with controls. In addition, 69%, 31%, and 14% of CCSs at all ages were diagnosed with POI in the very high-risk group, the unilateral oophorectomy group, and the high-risk group, respectively. POI prevalence was also notably higher in PanCareLIFE groups 4 (30%) and 2 (31%). A study conducted in Sweden on CCSs aged 19–40 years reported a POI prevalence of 9%, which increased to 35% for those treated with highly gonadotoxic therapies [166]. These figures are considerably higher than the spontaneous POI prevalence of 1.7% found by a Swedish register study [97]. Our results are in line with those of previous studies, and thus affirm treatments such as high-doses of alkylating agents, ovarian radiotherapy, and HSCT being the most gonadotoxic [109, 111, 167]. In the PanCareLIFE guidelines, the CED cut-off has been specified as a range, i.e., <6-8 g/m<sup>2</sup> for group 3 and  $\ge 6-8$  g/m<sup>2</sup> for group 4 [129]. We chose the lowest dose in this range, with our findings supporting CED of >6 g/m<sup>2</sup> as the preferable cut-off for recommending fertility preservation.

Regarding fertility outcomes, there was a trend towards decreased fertility in terms of conceiving and giving birth for all CCSs as well as for those at all ages in the very high-risk group, group 3, and group 4 compared with controls. Fertility investigation and treatment were more frequently utilised among CCSs and especially in those categorised as very high-risk of infertility and group 4. It was also more pronounced in CCSs who were treated with unilateral oophorectomy. Impaired fertility among CCSs has also been observed in earlier studies [107, 168]. Another study detected that CED of >7 g/m<sup>2</sup> and any radiotherapy dose to the lower

abdomen constitute an increased risk of compromised fertility in CCSs, which aligns with the results observed in group 4 [118]. One surprising result was that the high-risk group presented with no manifestation of fertility impairment concerning females being pregnant and children born. However, AMH and AFC were significantly reduced in this group for those aged <40 years compared with controls. A previous study's results correspond to this somewhat unexpected finding, reporting similar pregnancy rates among young cancer survivors despite reduced ovarian markers in comparison with age-matched controls [169]. One could therefore propose that ovarian markers mirror the quantity of remaining follicles, but to a lesser extent their quality. This theory is supported by a recent study reporting AMH as a limited prognostic factor of fertility [79]. Moreover, during follow-up, healthcare providers encourage CCSs to bring forward their childbearing plans, which is reflected in the fact that the CCSs in our study were younger than controls when they had their first child, with median ages of 26.5 and 29.0 years, respectively. Earlier childbearing among CCSs could be an additional explanation for the above-mentioned observation. In addition, we noted no difference between CCSs and controls concerning desire for future children. This may be viewed as either having the intended number of children or accepting the infertility situation. Given the trend of postponing childbearing in Europe, it may be valuable to monitor AMH in CCSs treated with highly gonadotoxic treatments to avoid missing the window of opportunity for family planning or fertility treatment.

CCSs who underwent treatment with unilateral oophorectomy are not originally stated as a separate group in the Swedish infertility risk classification. However, in the PanCareLIFE guidelines, those who underwent this treatment are classified as one group. It is reasoned in the PanCareLIFE guidelines that even though these females may be at risk of decreased fertility, they still have one healthy ovary left and are therefore not considered for fertility preservation [129]. This seems appropriate, as females who underwent unilateral oophorectomy enter menopause slightly earlier at a mean age of 49.6 years [170]. Nevertheless, in the case of cancer relapse and use of gonadotoxic treatments, the guidelines state that oocyte or embryo cryopreservation might be valuable prior to starting treatment. CCSs categorised to our unilateral oophorectomy group have received other cancer treatments in addition to removing one ovary, and thus constitute a heterogeneous group regarding therapy. Besides the diverse treatments adding complexity when evaluating the results, this group had a limited number of CCSs included. Median levels of AMH for females aged <40 years in this group were not significantly reduced in comparison with controls: 0.1 vs. 3.2 ng/ml, respectively. POI prevalence was 31% in this group, but with no sign of reduced fertility when assessing the numbers of pregnancies and children born. This could be explained by the observation of the greatest utilisation of fertility treatment (23%) among CCSs who underwent unilateral oophorectomy. Future studies including larger number of participants should investigate fertility outcomes further and evaluate whether a different fertility preservation approach is needed for this group.

One other major difference between the Swedish and PanCareLIFE guidelines is the inclusion of cranial radiotherapy for infertility risk assessment in the latter. Group 3 consisted of CCSs treated with cranial radiotherapy and/or CED <6 g/m<sup>2</sup>, and could be comparable to the Swedish moderate-risk group except for cranial radiotherapy. As mentioned earlier, group 3 did not have reduced AMH and AFC compared with controls, but a tendency for impaired fertility was apparent. On the contrary, the moderate-risk group presented no reduction in ovarian markers and preserved fertility. Based on this, one could infer that the fertility impairment trend observed in group 3 is more likely attributable to hypogonadotropic hypogonadism rather than ovarian damage. In the event of injury to the HPG axis, ovarian stimulation can be performed by using hormonal treatment (i.e., FSH and human chorionic gonadotrophin) at the time when family planning is sought [129].

A positive implication in the overall context of cancer treatment is that the ovarian insult appears to happen in relation to the treatment without further follicular loss later in life [171, 172]. Our finding of a negative correlation between AMH and age at examination for all CCSs and controls showed that AMH levels were only slightly lower among CCSs, supporting the theory of no accelerated follicular loss over the years. However, future prospective studies with extended follow-up time beyond three years are necessary to confirm this statement.

In our final study, we investigated the impact of age at diagnosis on ovarian markers. CCSs aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years at diagnosis had significantly higher median levels of AMH compared with those aged >8.4 years when diagnosed. We observed a significant difference among these groups regarding age at study enrolment. When adjusting for age at examination, the significant reduction in AMH levels remained for those who were older at diagnosis. This finding is comparable with those of previous studies, which report better preserved ovarian function among pre-pubescent girls [124-126]. Furthermore, those who were older at diagnosis were 3.5 times as likely to have unmeasurable AMH (i.e., <0.023 ng/ml) compared with CCSs who were younger at diagnosis. CCSs who were younger at diagnosis did indeed have longer follow-up time, which could not therefore account for these observations.

POI was more common among those aged >8.4 years at diagnosis (19%) compared with those aged  $\leq$ 8.4 years when diagnosed (7%). Another study by Sklar et al., however, found no association between POI and age at diagnosis [93]. As mentioned, CCSs aged >8.4 years at diagnosis were older at study enrolment, which might contribute to the higher observed prevalence of POI. Nevertheless, it has been reported by a multicentre study that CCSs diagnosed between the ages of 13 and 19 years had a 2.3 times higher risk of self-reported menopause compared with sibling controls [127, 128]. In this multicentre study, menopause was reported as cessation of menstruation by the participants and was not verified by biochemical or ultrasound ovarian markers. Another study reported that 8% of CCSs experienced self-reported non-surgical premature menopause, compared with 0.8% of siblings, with a higher age at diagnosis identified as a risk factor [93]. Our study observed limited evidence regarding the impact of different cancer treatments on reduced AMH levels. We found that CCSs who were older when diagnosed underwent treatment with alkylating agents to a higher extent than those who were younger at diagnosis. Although CCSs aged >8.4 years at diagnosis were treated with significantly higher CED, the median was rather low (i.e., 613 mg/m<sup>2</sup>), which recent guidelines classify as a low risk for POI [129]. In addition, no differences were observed regarding treatment including ovarian radiotherapy.

These findings potentially point to the ovaries being more susceptible to cancer treatments at an older age, and to growing follicles being more vulnerable. One could reason that the loss of growing follicles leads to an increased follicle turnover, consequently depleting the primordial follicle pool. Younger girls (i.e., those considered pre-pubescent) could therefore be less affected since their ovaries are in a dormant stage. Moreover, they also have a larger primordial follicle pool to start with compared with older girls. It has been reported that histological examination of cryopreserved ovarian tissue shows higher follicular density among younger paediatric patients [173], together with an acute AMH reduction following the initiation of cancer treatment [174], supporting this reasoning. It is also known that the number of primordial follicles differs at birth [51], and individuals might thus present with varying sensitivity to gonadotoxic treatments.

From the observations that pre-pubescent girls are less sensitive to ovarian damage, it has been hypothesised that the use of GnRHa could potentially offer protection to the ovaries during cancer treatment. To date, randomised trials evaluating GnRHa therapy are scarce with limited numbers of childhood cancer patients included [175]. Meta-analyses including pre-menopausal females with breast cancer reported that concurrent use of chemotherapy and GnRHa improves the restoration of regular menstrual cycles and pregnancy rates, as well as lowers the risk of POI [176, 177]. GnRHa use is currently considered experimental for childhood cancer patients, and future prospective randomised studies need to investigate the potential benefit for post-pubescent girls [129, 178]. Nevertheless, if GnRHa therapy will be implemented eventually, it should not serve as a substitute for proven fertility preservation methods, i.e., oocyte or embryo cryopreservation.

#### Limitations of our studies

We collected data during a period of five years, leading to a difference of zero to three years between CCSs and controls in the timing of blood sampling. Assessments of AFC and OV were more challenging among CCSs than controls, and were not measured in 19% and 4% and in 23% and 5%, respectively. Examination with transvaginal ultrasound was conducted by six different doctors, which could potentially contribute to interindividual differences. The definition of

POI was subtly changed, as we had no information on FSH and oestradiol levels at the time of diagnosis. Data was analysed based on groups instead of paired data, as matching was not performed for the use of HRT and OC. Moreover, studies report diverse results regarding the effect of oral hormonal therapy on lowering AMH levels [69-71]. Hence, a potential limitation is that analyses were not adjusted for the use of oral hormonal therapy, even though the numbers of CCSs and controls using HRT or OC were similar in our study. In addition, the number of CCSs was small in the infertility risk groups. Due to the cross-sectional design, we were unable to predict pregnancies and the timing of POI using ovarian reserve markers. In many cases, ovarian radiotherapy dose could not be exactly estimated and was therefore specified as an interval. Because of the limited study population and numerous cancer treatments, we could not determine the gonadotoxic threshold dose of alkylating agents and ovarian radiotherapy. Finally, we used a cut-off of 8.4 years of age when diagnosed, since data on pubescent status at the time of diagnosis was unavailable.

#### Strengths of our studies

To evaluate ovarian function, we collected detailed data on cancer treatments and performed physical examinations, including assessment of serum and ultrasound ovarian markers. We also gathered comprehensive data regarding quality of life from questionnaires. Our study population consisted of adult CCSs who were treated before fertility preservation methods could be offered, thus not affecting measurement of ovarian markers as in the case of removing one ovary for cryopreservation. Furthermore, CCSs were matched and compared with healthy controls. At last, our final study group of CCSs was representative concerning both the distribution of cancer diagnoses and offspring.

### Conclusions

- POI prevalence was 13% among CCSs, which is somewhat higher than previously reported. AMH, inhibin B, and FSH correlated significantly with AFC and OV, both in CCSs and controls, with no difference observed between the groups. AMH was the strongest serum predictor for detection of POI as well as low AFC after childhood cancer treatment. Thus, we suggest AMH as a reliable ovarian reserve marker in follow-up programmes for POI surveillance in CCSs.
- Self-reported health state and well-being were significantly reduced among all CCSs compared with controls. When comparing health state, the actual scores were not very different between the groups. However, CCSs with POI reported the lowest well-being. Therefore, early identification of female CCSs with POI is important to guarantee that they receive the necessary treatment and support.
- Both the Swedish and PanCareLIFE infertility risk classifications serve as effective tools for detecting CCSs at risk of low AMH, fertility impairment, and POI. It is therefore evident that treatments such as CED ≥6 g/m<sup>2</sup>, ovarian radiotherapy, and HSCT are most harmful to the ovaries. All childhood cancer patients and their parents should receive information on the expected future infertility risk, irrespective of planned treatment. In addition, those considered to be at a substantial risk of compromised fertility must be offered fertility preservation prior to starting treatment, along with follow-up during early reproductive years.
- CCSs who were older at diagnosis presented with reduced AMH levels and a higher prevalence of POI compared with those who were younger when diagnosed. It seems that the ovaries become more vulnerable to gonadotoxic treatments with increased age, as cancer treatments did not differ much between the groups. However, those who were older at diagnosis were more often treated with alkylating agents and with slightly higher CED. Age at diagnosis and CED can therefore aid in identifying those eligible for fertility preservation and monitoring throughout young reproductive age.

## Future perspectives

- Further research is needed among CCSs aged <25 years to assess whether AMH is a valuable ovarian marker in follow-up programmes for POI surveillance in this age group. There is also a need to obtain age-specific ranges from healthy females below 20 years of age.
- Longitudinal follow-up is required to evaluate the decline in ovarian markers across time and to estimate the timing of POI onset. In addition, the prognostic value of ovarian markers to predict the likelihood of conceiving among CCSs needs to be further investigated by future prospective studies.
- Although our data has been analysed based on cancer treatments rather than cancer diagnoses, large amounts of data refer to CCSs treated several decades ago with therapeutic approaches that are no longer in use (e.g., prophylactic cranial radiotherapy for ALL patients) or might have been changed. Therefore, the findings of our studies may not be fully pertinent to childhood cancer patients undergoing therapy more recently. This calls for additional research to evaluate POI prevalence, ovarian markers, and fertility outcomes in patients treated according to more current treatment protocols.
- Efforts must continue to optimise treatment protocols, with the aim of minimising toxicity and late complications while maintaining survival outcomes.
- Interindividual sensitivity to gonadotoxic treatments need further investigation with the identification of genetic variants associated with susceptibility for decreased ovarian function in order to give more patient-tailored recommendations for fertility preservation.
- Improvements in ovarian tissue reimplantation technique are desired to limit ischemia causing extensive follicular loss in the graft. There is also a need to further investigate the developmental potential of immature oocytes in the graft harvested from pre-pubescent girls.
- Future studies including larger study populations with evaluations of cancer treatment factors will have to reproduce the protective effects of being diagnosed at a younger age on ovarian function.

- The potentially beneficial use of GnRHa treatment during chemotherapy in post-pubescent girls needs further investigation through larger prospective randomised trials.
- In vitro maturation of oocytes from cryopreserved ovarian tissue is currently considered experimental. Advances in this method, with potential future clinical use, could be particularly beneficial for females at risk of malignant cells in the cryopreserved tissue.

# Acknowledgements

First of all, I want to express my gratitude to all the women who chose to participate in our research. Without you, this research would never have been possible.

*Maria*, my main supervisor. If I had the chance to choose a supervisor again, I would choose you every single time. Thank you so much for everything you have taught me in your kind and humble way over the years.

*Helena*, my co-supervisor. Thank you for your exceptional knowledge within this research field and within Paediatric Haematology and Oncology, and for sharing it with me through your generous guidance and support. Also, thank you for spotting that tiny "t" in the manuscript just before submission.

*Ingrid*, my co-supervisor. You are like a ray of sunshine, always bringing endless positivity, which was truly needed during this time. You are also a true master when it comes to revising manuscripts.

*Emir*, my co-supervisor. Without your knowledge and expertise in Reproductive Medicine, this research would not have moved forward or reached its full potential. I am deeply grateful for your invaluable contributions.

All the co-authors. Thank you for your excellent collaboration, your help with data extraction, and your valuable comments, which surely improved our research.

Lena and Irene, thank you for helping us with data collection and administration.

*Anna* Å, a statistical genius. Thank you for your priceless knowledge and for making statistics fun.

Thomas, the founder of BORISS. Thank you for supplying us with valuable data.

*Emma* and *MC*. Thank you for your lifelong friendship through both good and bad times. You are my dearest friends, forever and ever, and I really look forward to our upcoming trip to Amsterdam.

My girl squad: *Sandra, Johanna, Sofie*, and *Louise*. What would life be without you! You are simply the best, like a Tina Turner song!

*Mom* and *dad*. Thank you for being the best parents, always loving and supporting me no matter what.

*Elsa*, *Carl*, and *Eric*. My three little rascals, you are the greatest joy of my life! I love you more than anything in this world!

*Joakim*, my beloved husband. Thank you for all your patience and love. Without your support, this thesis would never have been finished. I love you.

Finally, thanks to all my amazing  $\bigcirc$  colleagues for being the best team anyone could ask for. My resident colleagues, thank you for all the laughter and great afterworks. *Anna HL*, my clinical supervisor, and a true guru in Paediatric Cardiology, thank you for being the very best teacher. *Katarina*, I am deeply touched by the opportunity to be a part of our team and to work with such a remarkable leader like you. Your intuitive approach, understanding the unspoken, and guiding with subtlety, has meant so much to me.

Funding

Our research presented in this thesis was financed by the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, Regional Funding of Skåne, and Skåne University Hospital Donation Fund.

## References

- 1. News-Medical.Net, Cancer History. Available from: <u>https://www.news-medical.net/health/Cancer-History.aspx</u>.
- ScienceDirect, Progress in Brain Research, Cranial Surgery Part 1, Chapter Six -Rome—Celsus (ca 25 BC to ca. 50 AD). Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S007961232400013X</u>.
- Erdmann F, Frederiksen LE, Bonaventure A, Mader L, Hasle H, Robison LL, et al. Childhood cancer: Survival, treatment modalities, late effects and improvements over time. Cancer Epidemiol. 2021;71(Pt B):101733. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2020.101733.
- 4. Gatta G, Botta L, Rossi S, Aareleid T, Bielska-Lasota M, Clavel J, et al. Childhood cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007: results of EUROCARE-5--a population-based study. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15(1):35-47. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70548-5.
- 5. Robison LL, Armstrong GT, Boice JD, Chow EJ, Davies SM, Donaldson SS, et al. The Childhood Cancer Survivor Study: a National Cancer Institute-supported resource for outcome and intervention research. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(14):2308-18. doi: 10.1200/jco.2009.22.3339.
- 6. Karolinska Institutet, Survive childhood cancer at a reasonable price. Available from: <u>https://ki.se/en/research/popular-science-and-dialogue/spotlight-on/spotlight-on-childhood-cancer/survive-childhood-cancer-at-a-reasonable-price</u>.
- 7. Swedish Childhood Cancer Registry. Available from: https://sbcr.se/.
- Heyman M, Gustafsson G, Kogner P. Childhood Cancer Incidence and Survival in Sweden 1984-2010 [Internet]. Stockholm: Karolinska Institutet; 2013 [cited 14 Feb 2024]. Available from: <u>http://www.forskasverige.se/wpcontent/uploads/ChildhoodCancerIncidenceandSurvivalinSweden1984\_2010.pdf</u>.
- 9. Institute of M, National Research Council National Cancer Policy B. In: Hewitt M, Weiner SL, Simone JV, editors. Childhood Cancer Survivorship: Improving Care and Quality of Life. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US)
- 10. Regionala cancercentrum, Långtidsuppföljning efter barncancer. Available from: <u>https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/barn/vardprogram/vp-langtidsuppfoljning-barncancer.pdf</u>.
- 11. Socialstyrelsen, Cancer i siffror 2018. Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/statistik/2018-6-10.pdf</u>.
- 12. National Cancer Institute, Cancer Statistics. Available from: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/statistics</u>.

- Pritchard-Jones K, Pieters R, Reaman GH, Hjorth L, Downie P, Calaminus G, et al. Sustaining innovation and improvement in the treatment of childhood cancer: lessons from high-income countries. Lancet Oncol. 2013;14(3):e95-e103. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70010-x.
- 14. World Health Organization, Childhood cancer. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer-in-children</u>.
- Zhang J, Walsh MF, Wu G, Edmonson MN, Gruber TA, Easton J, et al. Germline Mutations in Predisposition Genes in Pediatric Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015;373(24):2336-46. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1508054.
- 16. National Cancer Institute, BRCA Gene Changes: Cancer Risk and Genetic Testing. Available from: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/genetics/brca-fact-sheet</u>.
- 17. National Cancer Institute, Cancer in Children and Adolescents. Available from: <u>https://www.cancer.gov/types/childhood-cancers/child-adolescent-cancers-fact-sheet</u>.
- 18. Children's National Hospital, About Cancer Predisposition Syndromes. Available from: <u>https://www.childrensnational.org/get-care/departments/cancer-genetics/about-cancer-predisposition-syndromes</u>.
- 19. Socialstyrelsen, Barns och ungas hälsa, vård och omsorg 2013. Available from: <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-</u> <u>dokument/artikelkatalog/ovrigt/2013-3-15.pdf</u>.
- Winther JF, Kenborg L, Byrne J, Hjorth L, Kaatsch P, Kremer LC, et al. Childhood cancer survivor cohorts in Europe. Acta Oncol. 2015;54(5):655-68. doi: 10.3109/0284186x.2015.1008648.
- Oeffinger KC, Mertens AC, Sklar CA, Kawashima T, Hudson MM, Meadows AT, et al. Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(15):1572-82. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa060185.
- Geenen MM, Cardous-Ubbink MC, Kremer LC, van den Bos C, van der Pal HJ, Heinen RC, et al. Medical assessment of adverse health outcomes in long-term survivors of childhood cancer. Jama. 2007;297(24):2705-15. doi: 10.1001/jama.297.24.2705.
- Phillips SM, Padgett LS, Leisenring WM, Stratton KK, Bishop K, Krull KR, et al. Survivors of childhood cancer in the United States: prevalence and burden of morbidity. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2015;24(4):653-63. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-14-1418.
- 24. Robison LL, Hudson MM. Survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer: life-long risks and responsibilities. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(1):61-70. doi: 10.1038/nrc3634.
- Sklar CA, Antal Z, Chemaitilly W, Cohen LE, Follin C, Meacham LR, et al. Hypothalamic-Pituitary and Growth Disorders in Survivors of Childhood Cancer: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2018;103(8):2761-84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-01175.
- 26. Turcotte LM, Whitton JA, Friedman DL, Hammond S, Armstrong GT, Leisenring W, et al. Risk of Subsequent Neoplasms During the Fifth and Sixth Decades of Life in the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study Cohort. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(31):3568-75. doi: 10.1200/jco.2015.60.9487.

- Blatt J, Olshan A, Gula MJ, Dickman PS, Zaranek B. Second malignancies in verylong-term survivors of childhood cancer. Am J Med. 1992;93(1):57-60. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(92)90680-a.
- 28. Children's Oncology Group, Secondary Cancers. Available from: <u>https://www.childrensoncologygroup.org/secondarycancer#:~:text=Radiation%20the</u> <u>rapy%20given%20for%20children's,%2C%20thyroid%20gland%2C%20and%20bon</u> <u>es</u>.
- 29. Brignardello E, Felicetti F, Castiglione A, Chiabotto P, Corrias A, Fagioli F, et al. Endocrine health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer: the need for specialized adult-focused follow-up clinics. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;168(3):465-72. doi: 10.1530/eje-12-1043.
- de Fine Licht S, Winther JF, Gudmundsdottir T, Holmqvist AS, Bonnesen TG, Asdahl PH, et al. Hospital contacts for endocrine disorders in Adult Life after Childhood Cancer in Scandinavia (ALiCCS): a population-based cohort study. Lancet. 2014;383(9933):1981-9. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(13)62564-7.
- Mostoufi-Moab S, Seidel K, Leisenring WM, Armstrong GT, Oeffinger KC, Stovall M, et al. Endocrine Abnormalities in Aging Survivors of Childhood Cancer: A Report From the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(27):3240-7. doi: 10.1200/jco.2016.66.6545.
- 32. Breehl L, Caban O. Physiology, Puberty. StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- 33. Cleveland Clinic, Adrenarche. Available from: https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/body/adrenarche.
- 34. Kota AS, Ejaz S. Precocious Puberty. StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- 35. Wikipedia, Hypothalamic–pituitary–gonadal axis. Available from: <u>https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Hypothalamic%E2%80%93pituitary%E2%80%93go</u> <u>nadal\_axis</u>.
- 36. Teilmann G, Pedersen CB, Jensen TK, Skakkebaek NE, Juul A. Prevalence and incidence of precocious pubertal development in Denmark: an epidemiologic study based on national registries. Pediatrics. 2005;116(6):1323-8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-0012.
- Durand A, Bashamboo A, McElreavey K, Brauner R. Familial early puberty: presentation and inheritance pattern in 139 families. BMC Endocr Disord. 2016;16(1):50. doi: 10.1186/s12902-016-0130-x.
- Mayo Clinic, Precocious puberty. Available from: <u>https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/precocious-puberty/symptoms-causes/syc-20351811</u>.
- Moore HC, Unger JM, Phillips KA, Boyle F, Hitre E, Porter D, et al. Goserelin for ovarian protection during breast-cancer adjuvant chemotherapy. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(10):923-32. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1413204.
- 40. Elchuri SV, Momen JJ. Disorders of Pubertal Onset. Prim Care. 2020;47(2):189-216. doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2020.02.001.
- SedImeyer IL, Palmert MR. Delayed puberty: analysis of a large case series from an academic center. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(4):1613-20. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.4.8395.

- 42. Klein DA, Emerick JE, Sylvester JE, Vogt KS. Disorders of Puberty: An Approach to Diagnosis and Management. Am Fam Physician. 2017;96(9):590-9.
- Chemaitilly W, Li Z, Huang S, Ness KK, Clark KL, Green DM, et al. Anterior hypopituitarism in adult survivors of childhood cancers treated with cranial radiotherapy: a report from the St Jude Lifetime Cohort study. J Clin Oncol. 2015;33(5):492-500. doi: 10.1200/jco.2014.56.7933.
- 44. Gasner A, Rehman A. Primary Amenorrhea. StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- 45. Voutsadaki K, Matalliotakis M, Ladomenou F. Hypogonadism in adolescent girls: treatment and long-term effects. Acta Biomed. 2022;93(5):e2022317. doi: 10.23750/abm.v93i5.13719.
- 46. Wallace WH, Kelsey TW. Ovarian reserve and reproductive age may be determined from measurement of ovarian volume by transvaginal sonography. Hum Reprod. 2004;19(7):1612-7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh285.
- Faddy MJ, Gosden RG, Gougeon A, Richardson SJ, Nelson JF. Accelerated disappearance of ovarian follicles in mid-life: implications for forecasting menopause. Hum Reprod. 1992;7(10):1342-6. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137570.
- Johnson J, Canning J, Kaneko T, Pru JK, Tilly JL. Germline stem cells and follicular renewal in the postnatal mammalian ovary. Nature. 2004;428(6979):145-50. doi: 10.1038/nature02316.
- 49. Johnston RJ, Wallace WH. Normal ovarian function and assessment of ovarian reserve in the survivor of childhood cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2009;53(2):296-302. doi: 10.1002/pbc.22012.
- 50. Richardson SJ, Senikas V, Nelson JF. Follicular depletion during the menopausal transition: evidence for accelerated loss and ultimate exhaustion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1987;65(6):1231-7. doi: 10.1210/jcem-65-6-1231.
- 51. Baker TG. A quantitative and cytological study of germ cells in human ovaries. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 1963;158:417-33. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1963.0055.
- Rimon-Dahari N, Yerushalmi-Heinemann L, Alyagor L, Dekel N. Ovarian Folliculogenesis. Results Probl Cell Differ. 2016;58:167-90. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-31973-5\_7.
- 53. Cable JK, Grider MH. Physiology, Progesterone. StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- 54. Testing and interpreting measures of ovarian reserve: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril. 2015;103(3):e9-e17. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2014.12.093.
- 55. Testing and interpreting measures of ovarian reserve: a committee opinion. Fertil Steril. 2020;114(6):1151-7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.09.134.
- 56. Tal R, Seifer DB. Ovarian reserve testing: a user's guide. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;217(2):129-40. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.02.027.
- 57. Cooper GS, Baird DD, Hulka BS, Weinberg CR, Savitz DA, Hughes CL, Jr. Folliclestimulating hormone concentrations in relation to active and passive smoking. Obstet Gynecol. 1995;85(3):407-11. doi: 10.1016/0029-7844(94)00381-m.

- 58. van Noord PA, Dubas JS, Dorland M, Boersma H, te Velde E. Age at natural menopause in a population-based screening cohort: the role of menarche, fecundity, and lifestyle factors. Fertil Steril. 1997;68(1):95-102. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(97)81482-3.
- 59. Stellato RK, Crawford SL, McKinlay SM, Longcope C. Can follicle-stimulating hormone be used to define menopausal status? Endocr Pract. 1998;4(3):137-41. doi: 10.4158/ep.4.3.137.
- 60. Weenen C, Laven JS, Von Bergh AR, Cranfield M, Groome NP, Visser JA, et al. Anti-Müllerian hormone expression pattern in the human ovary: potential implications for initial and cyclic follicle recruitment. Mol Hum Reprod. 2004;10(2):77-83. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah015.
- 61. Durlinger AL, Kramer P, Karels B, de Jong FH, Uilenbroek JT, Grootegoed JA, et al. Control of primordial follicle recruitment by anti-Müllerian hormone in the mouse ovary. Endocrinology. 1999;140(12):5789-96. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.12.7204.
- 62. Visser JA, Schipper I, Laven JS, Themmen AP. Anti-Müllerian hormone: an ovarian reserve marker in primary ovarian insufficiency. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2012;8(6):331-41. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2011.224.
- 63. Kelsey TW, Wright P, Nelson SM, Anderson RA, Wallace WH. A validated model of serum anti-müllerian hormone from conception to menopause. PLoS One. 2011;6(7):e22024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022024.
- 64. Hansen KR, Hodnett GM, Knowlton N, Craig LB. Correlation of ovarian reserve tests with histologically determined primordial follicle number. Fertil Steril. 2011;95(1):170-5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.04.006.
- Wood CL, Lane LC, Cheetham T. Puberty: Normal physiology (brief overview). Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;33(3):101265. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2019.03.001.
- 66. Luisi S, Florio P, Reis FM, Petraglia F. Inhibins in female and male reproductive physiology: role in gametogenesis, conception, implantation and early pregnancy. Hum Reprod Update. 2005;11(2):123-35. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmh057.
- 67. Hehenkamp WJ, Looman CW, Themmen AP, de Jong FH, Te Velde ER, Broekmans FJ. Anti-Müllerian hormone levels in the spontaneous menstrual cycle do not show substantial fluctuation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(10):4057-63. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0331.
- Streuli I, Fraisse T, Pillet C, Ibecheole V, Bischof P, de Ziegler D. Serum antimüllerian hormone levels remain stable throughout the menstrual cycle and after oral or vaginal administration of synthetic sex steroids. Fertil Steril. 2008;90(2):395-400. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.06.023.
- 69. Birch Petersen K, Hvidman HW, Forman JL, Pinborg A, Larsen EC, Macklon KT, et al. Ovarian reserve assessment in users of oral contraception seeking fertility advice on their reproductive lifespan. Hum Reprod. 2015;30(10):2364-75. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev197.

- 70. Deb S, Campbell BK, Pincott-Allen C, Clewes JS, Cumberpatch G, Raine-Fenning NJ. Quantifying effect of combined oral contraceptive pill on functional ovarian reserve as measured by serum anti-Müllerian hormone and small antral follicle count using three-dimensional ultrasound. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2012;39(5):574-80. doi: 10.1002/uog.10114.
- Somunkiran A, Yavuz T, Yucel O, Ozdemir I. Anti-Müllerian hormone levels during hormonal contraception in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2007;134(2):196-201. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2007.01.012.
- Lu DH, Zhou SY, Xu LZ. Association between hormone replacement therapy and sex hormones in postmenopausal women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2023;27(11):5264-79. doi: 10.26355/eurrev\_202306\_32646.
- 73. Burger HG, Dudley EC, Hopper JL, Groome N, Guthrie JR, Green A, et al. Prospectively measured levels of serum follicle-stimulating hormone, estradiol, and the dimeric inhibins during the menopausal transition in a population-based cohort of women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999;84(11):4025-30. doi: 10.1210/jcem.84.11.6158.
- 74. Lunsford AJ, Whelan K, McCormick K, McLaren JF. Antimüllerian hormone as a measure of reproductive function in female childhood cancer survivors. Fertil Steril. 2014;101(1):227-31. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.08.052.
- 75. van Beek RD, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, Laven JS, de Jong FH, Themmen AP, Hakvoort-Cammel FG, et al. Anti-Mullerian hormone is a sensitive serum marker for gonadal function in women treated for Hodgkin's lymphoma during childhood. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(10):3869-74. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-2374.
- Sunderam S, Kissin DM, Crawford SB, Folger SG, Boulet SL, Warner L, et al. Assisted Reproductive Technology Surveillance - United States, 2015. MMWR Surveill Summ. 2018;67(3):1-28. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6703a1.
- 77. Choe J, Shanks AL. In Vitro Fertilization. StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- Tobler KJ, Shoham G, Christianson MS, Zhao Y, Leong M, Shoham Z. Use of antimullerian hormone for testing ovarian reserve: a survey of 796 infertility clinics worldwide. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2015;32(10):1441-8. doi: 10.1007/s10815-015-0562-7.
- 79. Harris BS, Jukic AM, Truong T, Nagle CT, Erkanli A, Steiner AZ. Markers of ovarian reserve as predictors of future fertility. Fertil Steril. 2023;119(1):99-106. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2022.10.014.
- Hagen CP, Vestergaard S, Juul A, Skakkebæk NE, Andersson AM, Main KM, et al. Low concentration of circulating antimüllerian hormone is not predictive of reduced fecundability in young healthy women: a prospective cohort study. Fertil Steril. 2012;98(6):1602-8.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.08.008.
- 81. Tal R, Seifer DB, Khanimov M, Malter HE, Grazi RV, Leader B. Characterization of women with elevated antimüllerian hormone levels (AMH): correlation of AMH with polycystic ovarian syndrome phenotypes and assisted reproductive technology outcomes. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2014;211(1):59.e1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.02.026.

- 82. Collée J, Mawet M, Tebache L, Nisolle M, Brichant G. Polycystic ovarian syndrome and infertility: overview and insights of the putative treatments. Gynecol Endocrinol. 2021;37(10):869-74. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2021.1958310.
- 83. Cox L, Liu JH. Primary ovarian insufficiency: an update. Int J Womens Health. 2014;6:235-43. doi: 10.2147/ijwh.S37636.
- 84. De Vos M, Devroey P, Fauser BC. Primary ovarian insufficiency. Lancet. 2010;376(9744):911-21. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(10)60355-8.
- 85. van Dorp W, Mulder RL, Kremer LC, Hudson MM, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, van den Berg MH, et al. Recommendations for Premature Ovarian Insufficiency Surveillance for Female Survivors of Childhood, Adolescent, and Young Adult Cancer: A Report From the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group in Collaboration With the PanCareSurFup Consortium. J Clin Oncol. 2016;34(28):3440-50. doi: 10.1200/jco.2015.64.3288.
- 86. Sopiarz N, Sparzak PB. Primary Ovarian Insufficiency. StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2024.
- Bidet M, Bachelot A, Bissauge E, Golmard JL, Gricourt S, Dulon J, et al. Resumption of ovarian function and pregnancies in 358 patients with premature ovarian failure. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(12):3864-72. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1038.
- Stuenkel CA, Gompel A. Primary Ovarian Insufficiency. N Engl J Med. 2023;388(2):154-63. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp2116488.
- Rebar RW. Premature ovarian failure. Obstet Gynecol. 2009;113(6):1355-63. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181a66843.
- Sullivan SD, Sarrel PM, Nelson LM. Hormone replacement therapy in young women with primary ovarian insufficiency and early menopause. Fertil Steril. 2016;106(7):1588-99. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.09.046.
- Green DM, Sklar CA, Boice JD, Jr., Mulvihill JJ, Whitton JA, Stovall M, et al. Ovarian failure and reproductive outcomes after childhood cancer treatment: results from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(14):2374-81. doi: 10.1200/jco.2008.21.1839.
- 92. Levine JM, Whitton JA, Ginsberg JP, Green DM, Leisenring WM, Stovall M, et al. Nonsurgical premature menopause and reproductive implications in survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer. 2018;124(5):1044-52. doi: 10.1002/cncr.31121.
- 93. Sklar CA, Mertens AC, Mitby P, Whitton J, Stovall M, Kasper C, et al. Premature menopause in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(13):890-6. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj243.
- 94. Netterlid A, Mörse H, Giwercman A, Henic E, Åkesson KE, Erfurth EM, et al. Premature ovarian failure after childhood cancer and risk of metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional analysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2021;185(1):67-75. doi: 10.1530/eje-20-1275.
- 95. Singer D, Mann E, Hunter MS, Pitkin J, Panay N. The silent grief: psychosocial aspects of premature ovarian failure. Climacteric. 2011;14(4):428-37. doi: 10.3109/13697137.2011.571320.

- Chemaitilly W, Li Z, Krasin MJ, Brooke RJ, Wilson CL, Green DM, et al. Premature Ovarian Insufficiency in Childhood Cancer Survivors: A Report From the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(7):2242-50. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-3723.
- 97. Lagergren K, Hammar M, Nedstrand E, Bladh M, Sydsjö G. The prevalence of primary ovarian insufficiency in Sweden; a national register study. BMC Womens Health. 2018;18(1):175. doi: 10.1186/s12905-018-0665-2.
- 98. Nilsson J, Jervaeus A, Lampic C, Eriksson LE, Widmark C, Armuand GM, et al. 'Will I be able to have a baby?' Results from online focus group discussions with childhood cancer survivors in Sweden. Hum Reprod. 2014;29(12):2704-11. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu280.
- Zebrack BJ, Casillas J, Nohr L, Adams H, Zeltzer LK. Fertility issues for young adult survivors of childhood cancer. Psychooncology. 2004;13(10):689-99. doi: 10.1002/pon.784.
- 100. Jacobs LA, Pucci DA. Adult survivors of childhood cancer: the medical and psychosocial late effects of cancer treatment and the impact on sexual and reproductive health. J Sex Med. 2013;10 Suppl 1:120-6. doi: 10.1111/jsm.12050.
- 101. Schover LR, Rybicki LA, Martin BA, Bringelsen KA. Having children after cancer. A pilot survey of survivors' attitudes and experiences. Cancer. 1999;86(4):697-709. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0142(19990815)86:4<697::aid-cncr20>3.0.co;2-j.
- 102. Madanat LM, Malila N, Dyba T, Hakulinen T, Sankila R, Boice JD, Jr., et al. Probability of parenthood after early onset cancer: a population-based study. Int J Cancer. 2008;123(12):2891-8. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23842.
- 103. Sabeti Rad Z, Friberg B, Henic E, Rylander L, Ståhl O, Källén B, et al. Deliveries After Malignant Disease Before Pregnancy: Maternal Characteristics, Pregnancy, and Delivery Complications. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2016;5(3):240-7. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2016.0008.
- 104. Ewertz M, Mellemkjaer L, Poulsen AH, Friis S, Sørensen HT, Pedersen L, et al. Hormone use for menopausal symptoms and risk of breast cancer. A Danish cohort study. Br J Cancer. 2005;92(7):1293-7. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602472.
- 105. Pitkin J, Rees MC, Gray S, Lumsden MA, Marsden J, Stevenson JC, et al. Management of premature menopause. Menopause Int. 2007;13(1):44-5. doi: 10.1258/175404507780456719.
- 106. Chemaitilly W, Mertens AC, Mitby P, Whitton J, Stovall M, Yasui Y, et al. Acute ovarian failure in the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91(5):1723-8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2006-0020.
- 107. Green DM, Kawashima T, Stovall M, Leisenring W, Sklar CA, Mertens AC, et al. Fertility of female survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(16):2677-85. doi: 10.1200/jco.2008.20.1541.
- 108. Metzger ML, Meacham LR, Patterson B, Casillas JS, Constine LS, Hijiya N, et al. Female reproductive health after childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancers: guidelines for the assessment and management of female reproductive complications. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(9):1239-47. doi: 10.1200/jco.2012.43.5511.

- 109. Thomas-Teinturier C, Allodji RS, Svetlova E, Frey MA, Oberlin O, Millischer AE, et al. Ovarian reserve after treatment with alkylating agents during childhood. Hum Reprod. 2015;30(6):1437-46. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev060.
- 110. Chow EJ, Stratton KL, Leisenring WM, Oeffinger KC, Sklar CA, Donaldson SS, et al. Pregnancy after chemotherapy in male and female survivors of childhood cancer treated between 1970 and 1999: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study cohort. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17(5):567-76. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(16)00086-3.
- 111. Lie Fong S, Laven JS, Hakvoort-Cammel FG, Schipper I, Visser JA, Themmen AP, et al. Assessment of ovarian reserve in adult childhood cancer survivors using anti-Müllerian hormone. Hum Reprod. 2009;24(4):982-90. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den487.
- 112. Green DM, Nolan VG, Goodman PJ, Whitton JA, Srivastava D, Leisenring WM, et al. The cyclophosphamide equivalent dose as an approach for quantifying alkylating agent exposure: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2014;61(1):53-67. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24679.
- Morgan S, Anderson RA, Gourley C, Wallace WH, Spears N. How do chemotherapeutic agents damage the ovary? Hum Reprod Update. 2012;18(5):525-35. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dms022.
- 114. Duncan FE, Kimler BF, Briley SM. Combating radiation therapy-induced damage to the ovarian environment. Future Oncol. 2016;12(14):1687-90. doi: 10.2217/fon-2016-0121.
- 115. Kim S, Kim SW, Han SJ, Lee S, Park HT, Song JY, et al. Molecular Mechanism and Prevention Strategy of Chemotherapy- and Radiotherapy-Induced Ovarian Damage. Int J Mol Sci. 2021;22(14). doi: 10.3390/ijms22147484.
- 116. Bath LE, Wallace WH, Shaw MP, Fitzpatrick C, Anderson RA. Depletion of ovarian reserve in young women after treatment for cancer in childhood: detection by anti-Müllerian hormone, inhibin B and ovarian ultrasound. Hum Reprod. 2003;18(11):2368-74. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deg473.
- 117. Miyoshi Y, Ohta H, Namba N, Tachibana M, Miyamura T, Miyashita E, et al. Low serum concentrations of anti-Müllerian hormone are common in 53 female childhood cancer survivors. Horm Res Paediatr. 2013;79(1):17-21. doi: 10.1159/000346139.
- 118. van den Berg MH, van Dijk M, Byrne J, Berger C, Dirksen U, Winther JF, et al. Treatment-related fertility impairment in long-term female childhood, adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: investigating dose-effect relationships in a European case-control study (PanCareLIFE). Hum Reprod. 2021;36(6):1561-73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab035.
- 119. Wallace WH, Thomson AB, Saran F, Kelsey TW. Predicting age of ovarian failure after radiation to a field that includes the ovaries. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2005;62(3):738-44. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2004.11.038.
- Kelsey TW, Hua CH, Wyatt A, Indelicato D, Wallace WH. A predictive model of the effect of therapeutic radiation on the human ovary. PLoS One. 2022;17(11):e0277052. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0277052.
- 121. Critchley HO, Wallace WH, Shalet SM, Mamtora H, Higginson J, Anderson DC. Abdominal irradiation in childhood; the potential for pregnancy. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1992;99(5):392-4. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1992.tb13755.x.

- 122. Green DM, Peabody EM, Nan B, Peterson S, Kalapurakal JA, Breslow NE. Pregnancy outcome after treatment for Wilms tumor: a report from the National Wilms Tumor Study Group. J Clin Oncol. 2002;20(10):2506-13. doi: 10.1200/jco.2002.07.159.
- 123. Brooke RJ, Im C, Wilson CL, Krasin MJ, Liu Q, Li Z, et al. A High-risk Haplotype for Premature Menopause in Childhood Cancer Survivors Exposed to Gonadotoxic Therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2018;110(8):895-904. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djx281.
- 124. Charpentier AM, Chong AL, Gingras-Hill G, Ahmed S, Cigsar C, Gupta AA, et al. Anti-Müllerian hormone screening to assess ovarian reserve among female survivors of childhood cancer. J Cancer Surviv. 2014;8(4):548-54. doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0364-4.
- 125. George SA, Williamson Lewis R, Schirmer DA, Effinger KE, Spencer JB, Mertens AC, et al. Early Detection of Ovarian Dysfunction by Anti-Mullerian Hormone in Adolescent and Young Adult-Aged Survivors of Childhood Cancer. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol. 2019;8(1):18-25. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2018.0080.
- 126. Akar B, Doğer E, Çakıroğlu Y, Çorapçıoğlu F, Sarper N, Çalışkan E. The effect of childhood cancer therapy on ovarian reserve and pubertal development. Reprod Biomed Online. 2015;30(2):175-80. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.10.010.
- 127. Byrne J. Infertility and premature menopause in childhood cancer survivors. Med Pediatr Oncol. 1999;33(1):24-8. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1096-911x(199907)33:1<24::aid-mpo5>3.0.co;2-k.
- 128. Byrne J, Fears TR, Gail MH, Pee D, Connelly RR, Austin DF, et al. Early menopause in long-term survivors of cancer during adolescence. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1992;166(3):788-93. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(92)91335-8.
- 129. Mulder RL, Font-Gonzalez A, Hudson MM, van Santen HM, Loeffen EAH, Burns KC, et al. Fertility preservation for female patients with childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer: recommendations from the PanCareLIFE Consortium and the International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Lancet Oncol. 2021;22(2):e45-e56. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(20)30594-5.
- 130. Vävnadsrådet. Åtgärder för att bevara reproduktionsförmågan hos unga [Internet]. Vävnadsrådet; 2015 [cited 14 Feb 2024]. Available from: <u>https://vavnad.se/wpcontent/uploads/2021/09/atgarder-for-att-beavara-reproduktionsforrmamgan-hosunga-003.pdf</u>.
- Georgiou EX, Melo P, Cheong YC, Granne IE. Follicular flushing during oocyte retrieval in assisted reproductive techniques. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;11(11):Cd004634. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004634.pub4.
- 132. Aimagambetova G, Issanov A, Terzic S, Bapayeva G, Ukybassova T, Baikoshkarova S, et al. The effect of psychological distress on IVF outcomes: Reality or speculations? PLoS One. 2020;15(12):e0242024. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242024.
- 133. Tomás C, Colmorn L, Rasmussen S, Lidegaard Ø, Pinborg A, Andersen AN. Annual incidence of severe ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. Dan Med J. 2021;68(2).
- 134. Chen L, Dong Z, Chen X. Fertility preservation in pediatric healthcare: a review. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2023;14:1147898. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1147898.

- 135. Pinelli S, Basile S. Fertility Preservation: Current and Future Perspectives for Oncologic Patients at Risk for Iatrogenic Premature Ovarian Insufficiency. Biomed Res Int. 2018;2018:6465903. doi: 10.1155/2018/6465903.
- 136. Baird DT, Webb R, Campbell BK, Harkness LM, Gosden RG. Long-term ovarian function in sheep after ovariectomy and transplantation of autografts stored at -196 C. Endocrinology. 1999;140(1):462-71. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.1.6453.
- 137. Newton H, Aubard Y, Rutherford A, Sharma V, Gosden R. Low temperature storage and grafting of human ovarian tissue. Hum Reprod. 1996;11(7):1487-91. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a019423.
- Resetkova N, Hayashi M, Kolp LA, Christianson MS. Fertility Preservation for Prepubertal Girls: Update and Current Challenges. Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep. 2013;2(4):218-25. doi: 10.1007/s13669-013-0060-9.
- 139. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Karlström PO, Rezapour M, Castellanos E, Hreinsson J, Rasmussen C, et al. Full-term newborn after repeated ovarian tissue transplants in a patient treated for Ewing sarcoma by sterilizing pelvic irradiation and chemotherapy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015;94(3):324-8. doi: 10.1111/aogs.12568.
- 140. Demeestere I, Simon P, Dedeken L, Moffa F, Tsépélidis S, Brachet C, et al. Live birth after autograft of ovarian tissue cryopreserved during childhood. Hum Reprod. 2015;30(9):2107-9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev128.
- 141. Fabbri R, Vicenti R, Magnani V, Paradisi R, Lima M, De Meis L, et al. Ovarian tissue cryopreservation and transplantation: 20 years experience in Bologna University. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2022;13:1035109. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1035109.
- 142. Matthews SJ, Picton H, Ernst E, Andersen CY. Successful pregnancy in a woman previously suffering from  $\beta$ -thalassemia following transplantation of ovarian tissue cryopreserved before puberty. Minerva Ginecol. 2018;70(4):432-5. doi: 10.23736/s0026-4784.18.04240-5.
- 143. Poirot C, Abirached F, Prades M, Coussieu C, Bernaudin F, Piver P. Induction of puberty by autograft of cryopreserved ovarian tissue. Lancet. 2012;379(9815):588. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)61781-9.
- 144. Ernst E, Kjærsgaard M, Birkebæk NH, Clausen N, Andersen CY. Case report: stimulation of puberty in a girl with chemo- and radiation therapy induced ovarian failure by transplantation of a small part of her frozen/thawed ovarian tissue. Eur J Cancer. 2013;49(4):911-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2012.09.028.
- 145. Kitajima Y, Endo T, Nagasawa K, Manase K, Honnma H, Baba T, et al. Hyperstimulation and a gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonist modulate ovarian vascular permeability by altering expression of the tight junction protein claudin-5. Endocrinology. 2006;147(2):694-9. doi: 10.1210/en.2005-0700.
- 146. Oktay K, Harvey BE, Partridge AH, Quinn GP, Reinecke J, Taylor HS, et al. Fertility Preservation in Patients With Cancer: ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(19):1994-2001. doi: 10.1200/jco.2018.78.1914.
- 147. Ussher JM, Perz J. Infertility-related distress following cancer for women and men: A mixed method study. Psychooncology. 2019;28(3):607-14. doi: 10.1002/pon.4990.

- 148. Langeveld NE, Grootenhuis MA, Voûte PA, de Haan RJ, van den Bos C. Quality of life, self-esteem and worries in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. Psychooncology. 2004;13(12):867-81. doi: 10.1002/pon.800.
- 149. Hohmann C, Borgmann-Staudt A, Rendtorff R, Reinmuth S, Holzhausen S, Willich SN, et al. Patient counselling on the risk of infertility and its impact on childhood cancer survivors: results from a national survey. J Psychosoc Oncol. 2011;29(3):274-85. doi: 10.1080/07347332.2011.563344.
- 150. Gorman JR, Bailey S, Pierce JP, Su HI. How do you feel about fertility and parenthood? The voices of young female cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv. 2012;6(2):200-9. doi: 10.1007/s11764-011-0211-9.
- 151. Letourneau JM, Ebbel EE, Katz PP, Katz A, Ai WZ, Chien AJ, et al. Pretreatment fertility counseling and fertility preservation improve quality of life in reproductive age women with cancer. Cancer. 2012;118(6):1710-7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26459.
- 152. EQ-5D-3L User Guide. Available from: <u>https://euroqol.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/EQ-5D-3LUserguide-23-07.pdf</u>.
- 153. Wiebe T, Hjorth L, Marotta Kelly M, Linge HM, Garwicz S. A population based pediatric oncology registry in Southern Sweden: the BORISS registry. Eur J Epidemiol. 2018;33(11):1125-9. doi: 10.1007/s10654-018-0437-1.
- 154. Majumder K, Gelbaya TA, Laing I, Nardo LG. The use of anti-Müllerian hormone and antral follicle count to predict the potential of oocytes and embryos. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2010;150(2):166-70. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.02.029.
- 155. Xiao B, Zeng T, Wu S, Sun H, Xiao N. Effect of levonorgestrel-releasing intrauterine device on hormonal profile and menstrual pattern after long-term use. Contraception. 1995;51(6):359-65. doi: 10.1016/0010-7824(95)00102-g.
- 156. Bobjer J, Bogefors K, Isaksson S, Leijonhufvud I, Åkesson K, Giwercman YL, et al. High prevalence of hypogonadism and associated impaired metabolic and bone mineral status in subfertile men. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2016;85(2):189-95. doi: 10.1111/cen.13038.
- 157. Wang X, Cheng Z. Cross-Sectional Studies: Strengths, Weaknesses, and Recommendations. Chest. 2020;158(1s):S65-s71. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.012.
- 158. Brayne C, Moffitt TE. The limitations of large-scale volunteer databases to address inequalities and global challenges in health and aging. Nat Aging. 2022;2(9):775-83. doi: 10.1038/s43587-022-00277-x.
- 159. Wang X, Kattan MW. Cohort Studies: Design, Analysis, and Reporting. Chest. 2020;158(1s):S72-s8. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.03.014.
- Moser A, Korstjens I. Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. Eur J Gen Pract. 2018;24(1):9-18. doi: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091.
- 161. Sun S, Irestig R, Burström B, Beijer U, Burström K. Health-related quality of life (EQ-5D) among homeless persons compared to a general population sample in Stockholm County, 2006. Scand J Public Health. 2012;40(2):115-25. doi: 10.1177/1403494811435493.
- 162. Sullivan J, Thornton Snider J, van Eijndhoven E, Okoro T, Batt K, DeLeire T. The well-being of long-term cancer survivors. Am J Manag Care. 2018;24(4):188-95.

- 163. Yu J, Son WS, Lee SB, Chung IY, Son BH, Ahn SH, et al. Uneven recovery patterns of compromised health-related quality of life (EQ-5D-3 L) domains for breast Cancer survivors: a comparative study. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2018;16(1):143. doi: 10.1186/s12955-018-0965-0.
- 164. Sormunen T, Aanesen A, Fossum B, Karlgren K, Westerbotn M. Infertility-related communication and coping strategies among women affected by primary or secondary infertility. J Clin Nurs. 2018;27(1-2):e335-e44. doi: 10.1111/jocn.13953.
- 165. Wirtberg I, Möller A, Hogström L, Tronstad SE, Lalos A. Life 20 years after unsuccessful infertility treatment. Hum Reprod. 2007;22(2):598-604. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del401.
- 166. Haavisto A, Wettergren L, Lampic C, Lähteenmäki PM, Jahnukainen K. Premature ovarian insufficiency and chance of pregnancy after childhood cancer: A populationbased study (the Fex-Can study). Int J Cancer. 2023;153(3):644-53. doi: 10.1002/ijc.34541.
- 167. Gracia CR, Sammel MD, Freeman E, Prewitt M, Carlson C, Ray A, et al. Impact of cancer therapies on ovarian reserve. Fertil Steril. 2012;97(1):134-40.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.10.040.
- 168. Dama E, Maule MM, Mosso ML, Alessi D, Ghisleni M, Pivetta E, et al. Life after childhood cancer: marriage and offspring in adult long-term survivors--a populationbased study in the Piedmont region, Italy. Eur J Cancer Prev. 2009;18(6):425-30. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e3283307770.
- 169. Dillon KE, Sammel MD, Ginsberg JP, Lechtenberg L, Prewitt M, Gracia CR. Pregnancy after cancer: results from a prospective cohort study of cancer survivors. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(12):2001-6. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24701.
- 170. Bjelland EK, Wilkosz P, Tanbo TG, Eskild A. Is unilateral oophorectomy associated with age at menopause? A population study (the HUNT2 Survey). Hum Reprod. 2014;29(4):835-41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu026.
- 171. van der Kooi AL, van den Heuvel-Eibrink MM, van Noortwijk A, Neggers SJ, Pluijm SM, van Dulmen-den Broeder E, et al. Longitudinal follow-up in female Childhood Cancer Survivors: no signs of accelerated ovarian function loss. Hum Reprod. 2017;32(1):193-200. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew278.
- 172. Cameron K, Sammel MD, Prewitt M, Gracia C. Differential Rates of Change in Measures of Ovarian Reserve in Young Cancer Survivors Across the Reproductive Lifespan. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2019;104(5):1813-22. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-02257.
- 173. Grellet-Grün M, Delepine B, Le Van Quyen P, Avérous G, Durlach A, Greze C, et al. A 16-year bicentric retrospective analysis of ovarian tissue cryopreservation in pediatric units: indications, results, and outcome. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2023;14:1158405. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1158405.
- 174. Mörse H, Elfving M, Lindgren A, Wölner-Hanssen P, Andersen CY, Øra I. Acute onset of ovarian dysfunction in young females after start of cancer treatment. Pediatr Blood Cancer. 2013;60(4):676-81. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24327.

- 175. Pereyra Pacheco B, Méndez Ribas JM, Milone G, Fernández I, Kvicala R, Mila T, et al. Use of GnRH analogs for functional protection of the ovary and preservation of fertility during cancer treatment in adolescents: a preliminary report. Gynecol Oncol. 2001;81(3):391-7. doi: 10.1006/gyno.2001.6181.
- 176. Munhoz RR, Pereira AA, Sasse AD, Hoff PM, Traina TA, Hudis CA, et al. Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonists for Ovarian Function Preservation in Premenopausal Women Undergoing Chemotherapy for Early-Stage Breast Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Oncol. 2016;2(1):65-73. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.3251.
- 177. Lambertini M, Moore HCF, Leonard RCF, Loibl S, Munster P, Bruzzone M, et al. Gonadotropin-Releasing Hormone Agonists During Chemotherapy for Preservation of Ovarian Function and Fertility in Premenopausal Patients With Early Breast Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Individual Patient-Level Data. J Clin Oncol. 2018;36(19):1981-90. doi: 10.1200/jco.2018.78.0858.
- 178. Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, Nilsson HP, Bergh J, Malmros J, Ljungman P, Foukakis T, et al. ProFertil study protocol for the investigation of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists (GnRHa) during chemotherapy aiming at fertility protection of young women and teenagers with cancer in Sweden-a phase III randomised double-blinded placebo-controlled study. BMJ Open. 2023;13(12):e078023. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2023-078023.

#### About the author



Anna Nyström is a paediatrician at the Children's Heart Centre, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden. Her research is about ovarian dysfunction and fertility impairment among adult survivors of childhood cancer. In the future, she would like to pursue research on late complications after childhood cancer treatment with a focus on cardiotoxicity.



# FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Clinical Sciences Lund

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2025:28 ISBN 978-91-8021-681-4 ISSN 1652-8220

